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Characteristics of the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM") of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been established as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk
may be attached. In particular, companies may list on GEM with neither a track record of profitability nor any
obligation to forecast future profitability. Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of the emerging nature
of companies listed on GEM and the business sectors or countries in which the companies operate. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM
mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication on the Internet website operated by
the Stock Exchange. Listed companies are not generally required to issue paid announcements in gazetted
newspapers. Accordingly, prospective investors should note that they need to have access to the GEM website
in order to obtain up-to-date information on GEM-listed issuers.

The Stock Exchange takes no responsibility for the contents of this report, makes no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”] of Global Digital Creations Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually-accept full.responsibility, includes_particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM|Listing Rules”] for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge and belief: (i) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading; (ii] there are no other matters the omission.of which would make any statement in this report.
misleading; and {iii] all opinions expressed in this report have beeniérrived at.after due and careful consideration and
are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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We are the pioneers in a new technology and industry.
There are many problems and difficulties in our way.

We will conquer and overcome.

We believe our future will rest on the people that we train and
nurture today.

Together working as a team, we will build and lead the

digital content development industry in Asia.
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Headquartered in Hong Kong, Global Digital Creations Holdings
Limited, together with its subsidiaries, (collectively the “Group” or
‘GDC") is one of the leading groups providing an integrated value
chain in the digital content business which encompasses computer
graphics (“CG") creation and production, distribution and exhibitions
of digital content, and training of CG artists in the Asia Pacific
region.

GDC has built a production pipeline in the city of Shenzhen in the
People’s Republic of China* (the “PRC") for the production of CG
content for animated films, TV series and other CG applications.
GDC is currently producing a 3D full feature CG animated film
namely, Thru the Moebius Strip and co-producing a 52-episode
animated TV series programme titled Panshel’s World.

To secure a stable supply of CG creation and production staff for
CG projects, GDC has organized CG training courses in Shenzhen
in co-operation with Shenzhen University since year 2000. Having
trained over 400 CG artists, GDC now has a strong CG production
team with over 300 animators and artists, the largest in the PRC
and in Asia. In September 2003, GDC extended its training services
to Shanghai to nurture talents.

Leveraging its proprietary technologies in digital film processing,
encryption, compression, storage, delivery and distribution, GDC
developed a proprietary 2K x 1K digital cinema solution. In 2002,
the Group successfully used its proprietary DSR™ Digital Film Agile
Encoder for the premiere of The Missing Gun, the PRCs first digitally
released film. The Group has, since early 2003, commercialized its
digital cinema solution under the DSR™ range of equipment for
supply to digital cinemas worldwide.

Shares of the Company are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 8271.HK)
and traded on the Regulated Unofficial Markets of Frankfurt, Berlin,
and Munich Stock Exchanges (Reuters: 8271.F/8271.BE/8271 .MU/
8271.DE (XETRA) and Bloomberg: GDC GR EQUITY).

GDC'’s vision is to become a leader in the digital content
development industry in the Asia Pacific region.

*  For the purpose of this annual report, the Peoples Republic of China or China
mainland excludes Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Regions and
Taiwan.
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JUNE 2000 - MARCH 2001

= The Group undertook the
pre-production work for Thru

the Moebius Strip.
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In January, the Group commenced
operations when GDC Entertainment
obtained all the copyrights and all other
rights, titles and interests on Thru the
Moebius Strip.

In June, the Group developed the
technology and business of digital content
distribution and exhibitions under GDC
Technology.

In August, IDMT Shenzhen entered into an
agreement with Shenzhen University in the
PRC for the provision of CG training courses.
285
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APRIL 2002

= The Group successfully
used its proprietary DSR™
Digital Film Agile Encoder
for the premiere of The
Missing Gun, the PRC’ first
digitally released film.
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FEBRUARY 2003

= The Group entered into a co-
operation agreement with Shanghai
Xin Chang Ning Group for the
provision of CG training courses in
Shanghai, the PRC.
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OCTOBER 2003

= Co-production agreement for the
animated TV series Panshel’s World

was secured at MIPCOM Junior.
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AUGUST 2003

= Trading of the Shares of the Company
began on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8271.HK).
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SEPTEMBER 2003

= Trading of the Shares of the Company
began on the Regulated Unofficial
Markets of Frankfurt, Berlin and
Munich  Stock Exchanges.
(Reuters: 8271.F/8271.BE/8271.MU/
8271.DE (XETRA) and Bloomberg: GDC
GR EQUITY)
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Executive Directors

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Richard Yin Yingneng (“Richard Yin") (President)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh (Chairman)
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Mr. Stephen Scharf
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Ms. Amelia Mak Lai Yu
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Dr. David Deng Wei
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Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh (Chairman)
Dr. David Deng Wei
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Mr. Stephen Scharf
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\WEBSITE ADDRESS

http://www.gdc-world.com

STOCK CODE

8271.HK
Reuters: 8271.F/8271.BE/8271.MU/8271.DE (XETRA)
Bloomberg: GDC GR EQUITY

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Suites 1804-5, Hutchison House
10 Harcourt Road, Central
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers

SPONSOR

Goldbond Capital (Asia) Limited

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong Laws
Gallant Y.T. Ho & Co.

As to Bermuda Laws
Conyers Dill & Pearman

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Development Bank of Singapore Ltd.
Standard Chartered Bank

Shenzhen Commercial Bank

Bank of China

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

The Bank of Bermuda Limited
Bank of Bermuda Building

6 Front Street

Hamilton HM 11
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HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Standard Registrars Limited

Ground Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre
56 Gloucester Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong
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Chairman
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LEADERSHIP THROUGH THE QUEST FOR
EXCELLENCE

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of GDC, it is my

pleasure to make to you, our shareholders, this first annual report
of GDC for the year ended 31 December 2003.

GDC was built upon a common vision shared by the Board, its
management and all of its employees. It is the vision to become
a leader in the digital content development industry in
the PRC and Asia by setting standards of excellence

benchmarked against the highest standards in the world.

GDC took its first steps in this quest by tackling the basic problem
— the creation of adequate human capital. So, when it was first set
up some four years ago, GDC set out to start one of the largest
CG training centres in the Asia Pacific region. To date, the centre,
located at Nanshan District of Shenzhen, the PRC, has produced
over 400 graduates from three nine-month intensive training
courses. Many have taken the practical training option offered in

our studio at the end of the course and have joined us. The
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Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh
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66 We want to bring about the rebirth of the
creative dimension in the Chinese

animation industry.
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training centre has expanded into Chang Ning District of Shanghai
and in time, the centre, apart from being a viable business by
itself, will incubate and hatch the critical mass of human capital
needed to build a world-class digital content development industry
in the PRC, and ultimately in Asia. GDC taps into this continuing
stream of very valuable human capital by becoming an employer
of choice. So long as it keeps this position, GDC will continue to

be a leader in the industry.

GDC is an employer of choice because its employees have the
opportunity to work on cutting edge projects, together with
experienced and well-known professionals from the United States
(the "US") and Europe. GDC has built a studio with a production
pipeline proving itself to be capable of producing a three
dimensional (“3D") full feature animation film in high definition
("HD"). GDC owns the intellectual property of a Jean Giraud
Moebius (“Moebius”) film, Thru the Moebius Strip, and
this has enabled us to develop many possible potential
revenue streams, including merchandising and computer
games. [t is the policy of GDC to generally engage in either self-
financed or co-financed animated or computer generated special
effects productions so that it may develop its own intellectual
property, and accordingly, to allow the talent of our employees to
be developed to their full potential and of course, to enable GDC
to develop through the use of appropriate risk management tools,

the highest reward for its investment.

The same quest for excellence is being pursued in the technology
for the digital content distribution and exhibitions business of GDC.
GDC’s achievements in this area now define the international

frontiers of the technology.
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Although | am not an expert in the field of CG or digital signal
processing, | have the privilege of working with highly motivated
and experienced professionals. All staff at GDC work hard not
because its systems of management and strict corporate governance
practices continually monitor their results, and they know this, but
because they get the palpable feeling, as | always do whenever |
visit the facilities of GDC, that they are at the cutting edge of
creating a world class digital content development industry in the

PRC, and ultimately in Asia.

Our employees, the management and the Board realise only too
clearly that leadership does not come easy and to maintain the
momentum they have achieved to date, they must remain

committed to their quest for excellence.

Al the time of writing, GDC is close to completing the film project
Thru the Moebius Strip for marketing at the Cannes Film Festival in
France during May 2004. The completion of this film project will
mark the first major milestone for the CG content and production

business.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to give my sincere
thanks to all our dedicated colleagues for their persistent efforts in
creating a digital content industry under the GDC brandname.

We look forward to further successes in the future.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT X & $R &

HARALIEE I E GRS BIEAREE T HELD
EXBEHRENREBRREEINERAREG
B BIERBREE REYB2EEIRIE
HE - WHRAAREEHET 2 BEEGE REE
BTIREERBEMER  MEAXKHEHEL
NAKEEET - EMAEAAFREHRIK
HWEEROBARZE —& - AR LETHE
JEER - R FETE AR B T & g i [ AT B B
KENEBERADBRREE -

N
3

RE

MET ERENREFESZEERS
RAEREMKIEGERE ERTHREA
B2 NBEZTERRVOASIEM -

W%m

o id

WEZR  RIKBBEIENER Thru the
Moebius Strip BB TR E - A KRR =
ZENFRAEERRITCERELE LE
AR MEREZREREFEZEKE
GRERBIEXBN —HEEEZE2R® -

RiE RABRLIMERREFERNEUB AT
B BORANEIBUARLHE  BHES
BUBRKEE R EEBNTEREEME
HEER - T 2R RIS E IR E -

/

Anthony Francis Neoh 2 & 3§
Chairman F &

11

GDC
[HOLDINGS



PRESIDENT?" S

BUILDING A DIGITAL FRANCHISE

2003 was a year of many challenges for GDC. It was a year when

we completed our initial public offering (“IPO”), substantially finished
production of our feature film Thru the Moebius Strip and started
our sale and delivery of digital film servers.

Production of our feature film has not only placed our studio as
one of the small selected group of studios that are able to
successfully execute complex long feature CG films at competitive
cost but, hopefully, it will also produce a franchise that, over time,
will make our investment in the film to become more and more
valuable. We Dbelieve this investment will underpin the long-term
success of GDC.

Our digital content distribution and exhibitions business also faces
challenges that were caused by the broader technological
landscape that has changed dramatically in the past few years.
The dated cinema technology, which uses traditional reels of
celluloid films and traditional projection equipment, is being taken
over by a newer technology. A revolution has already begun in
the US, and now in Asia, that we are replacing traditional projecting
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J ¢ ' Our expertise and competitiveness in the Digital Content
Development Industry put us in a prime advantage
= position in the new global market.
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Mr. Richard Yin President
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machines with electronic servers to display digital pictures, which
offer pristine image quality no matter how many times the film is
exhibited. We believe that this is the beginning of a revolution,

and we are well placed to take commercial advantage of this
revolution.

Our expertise in creating and producing CG materials, in training
the CG artists who produce them, in developing intellectual
property by ourselves and in cooperation with others, and in
distributing and exhibiting digital contents, put us in a prime
advantage position in the new global market. Our cost
competitive advantage which combines with a host of
other strengths, including integrated and self-sufficient
facilities, access to advanced proprietary technologies,
and a host of international collaborations will, | believe,
generate rewarding financial returns to the Group and,
to our shareholders.
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CEO'S REVIEW & OUTLOOK {THAHEERRERE
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6 People are waiting for the digital cinema market to mature.

We've decided to drive that market and provide the

technology to make it happen.
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Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh
Chief Executive Officer

PREBEE THes

A YEAR OF CHALLENGES

It is my pleasure to present our first annual report to
you. 2003 was an eventful year for us. On 4 August
2003, we became listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM")
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”). 2003 was the year that we have substantially finished
production of our HD full feature CG film Thru the Moebius Strip;
opened up our new Shanghai training centre; launched the world's
first high resolution 2K digital film server for exhibition of digital
images in cinemas, commenced deliveries of the largest digital
cinema (“D-cinema”) equipment order in the world comprising a
total of 1,400 servers for India, and was named “Company of the
Year” by Screen Digest.

2003 was also the year that we started diversifying into other CG
content projects, such as TV series, games, art production service,
and commercials. On the educational front, we successfully
duplicated our long-term CG courses in Shanghai, and started to
explore short-term CG courses there. GDC Technology Limited
("GDC Technology”), our wholly-owned subsidiary, has established
itself as a leader in D-cinema technology worldwide.
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The Group has three major operations consisting of CG training,
CG creation and production (including intellectual property
development and exploitation), and digital content distribution and
exhibitions. With our core competency in digital content
production and technology, we have made GDC one of
the leading hi-tech and content creation companies in
the world.

Initial public offering

We are pleased to complete an IPO in August 2003 and raised
approximately HKS66.3 million, before expenses, from the listing
of our shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange, under the
sponsorship of Asia Investment Capital Ltd., (now renamed
Goldbond Capital (Asia) Limited] and a syndication of
underwriters led by lead manager CM-CCS Securities Limited.
The trading of our shares started on 4 August 2003. As a result
of the IPO, our shareholder base has been much expanded to
include a cross section of institutional names and private
investors.

At the invitation of the German Borses, GDC was admitted to the
Unofficial Regulated Markets in the Frankfurt, Berlin and Munich
Stock Exchanges in September 2003. We are pleased to offer
investors the opportunities to trade our shares during the European
time zones, as a first step to globalise the trading.

CG training

We believe that training and nurturing artists is the
cornerstone for creating a digital content industry.
Although there is no shortage of talented artists in China mainland,
it is difficult to assemble a team of CG artists that is capable to
create, compose, and animate images in 3D CG format. GDC first
tackled this problem by providing training, in cooperation with
MAYA™/3D Studio Max™, the major CG software vendors, and
created its own curriculum.
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CG training is operated under our wholly-owned
subsidiaries — Institute of Digital Media Technology (Shenzhen)
Limited ("IDMT Shenzhen”) and Institute of Digital Media Technology
(Shanghai) Limited (“IDMT Shanghai”) in the PRC. IDMT Shenzhen
has been conducting training in CG for animation artists in the
PRC for the past four years. We had trained over 400 students and
have another 210 students studying with us during 2003 and
2004. Our training centre in Shanghai, now has over 60 full time
students, and we have also opened up part time and evening
courses in Shanghai for digital artists. We have also published

three new textbooks on CG in the PRC.

IDMT Shanghai has enjoyed a lot of support from the Shanghai municipal
and the Chang Ning District Government. We were selected by the
Shanghai Labour Department to help conduct entry-level CG courses to
the residents of Shanghai. These courses will be fully funded by the
Shanghai Labour Department and will be conducted inside and outside
of our premises. This allows us to scale our training program outside
our premises to reach a much larger students body, without stretching
our existing resources. We are also planning to offer professional courses
for students in other Asian countries to study in Shanghai by bringing

in world-class instructors.

CG content creation and production

GDC has based its major CG production studio in Shenzhen, the
PRC, which has over 300 employees. In 2003, we have also opened
up a new production wing within our facility. We have finished
rendering our feature production in 2003 and we are now putting
on the finishing touches on Thru the Moebius Strip. With growth
in experience of our digital artists, we have diversified into other

digital content areas, such as TV series.
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Due to our high standard of finishing quality and fast turnaround
time, we have been approached by other companies in the US
and Europe which had submitted scripts to us for co-production in

TV series and feature films.

As stated in the Third Quarterly Report for the period ended 30
September 2003, the production of our CG feature film Thru
the Moebius Strip is in the post-production stage. Thru the
Moebius Strip (the “Film”) is the Group's 3D CG full feature film
HD format which has been designed by Moebius, written by
Mr. Jim Cox and Mr. Paul Gertz, directed by Mr. Glenn Chaika;
and with art direction by Moebius, Mr. Sylvain Despretz and Mr.
Fred Cline; produced by Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh and Mr.
David Kirschner, and with Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh as
executive producer. It is a science fiction/fantasy epic story about
a search by Jac Weir for his father Simon Weir, a physicist, who
becomes lost and trapped in a distant planet after he crossed

over in a space-time portal.

We are pleased to advise that further progress has been made on the
post-production stage, and the producer and director have “time-locked”
the Film. Editing work on the Film has recently been completed, and
the Film is now in the final stage of the post-production phase, pending
the finalization of the theme and background music scores and the
recording by musicians. The Group has contracted the Slovak Radio
Symphony Orchestra and Chorus for the orchestral performance of the
Film's music, but due to the unavailability of time for theme music
recording in Bratislava, Czechoslovakia, and sound stage time for final
mix in Los Angeles, the US, these final stages of production are only
available in early and mid April 2004 respectively. Consequently, the
target date for production of a final HD digital version of the Film is at
the beginning of May 2004, in time for exhibition at the Cannes Film
Festival, scheduled from 12 to 23 May 2004 to be held in Cannes,

France.
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GDC has entered into a sales agency agreement with Senator
International Inc. (“Senator”) as our sales agent for the Film for
territories excluding North America, China and Japan. We have
also signed up a sales agent for the Japanese market, and are in
discussion with a sales agent in the PRC. To date, we have, through
Senator entered into pre-sale contracts for the theatrical, DVD/
Video, and TV exhibition rights in four countries. We anticipate
that we shall be able to secure more pre-sale contracts after the

Cannes Film Festival in May 2004.

During the last quarter of 2003, we have begun co-production of
a 52-episode animated series of television program titled Panshel’s
World which we are co-producing with French and German
partners. We anticipate that the production of Panshel’s World will
be completed by September/October 2004, and the launch of the
first episode on TV is expected in the last quarter of 2004. Pursuant
to the co-production agreement entered into between the Group
and the two other co-producers, the CG animation will be
undertaken by the Group, while the other two co-producers will
be responsible for the pre-production work and the post-production
of the character models, the English scripts, recording and editing,
selling and marketing of the Panshel’s World.

GDC holds the intellectual property right in the Film. We are in the
process of putting together our licensing programs, such as
development of merchandising catalogue and styles guide. We
have also been approached by other companies to develop HD

TV series based on our Film.
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GDC will also be working in establishing a brand in the world
market as supplier of high quality, fast turnaround and affordable
production service for CG feature film, with a distributor and well
known directors in place. We are also launching the CG TV series
Panshel’s World in the PRC in 2004, and will start our licensing

and merchandising program as well.

Digital content distribution and exhibitions

D-cinema heralds a new era for the cinema industry. D-cinema is
about the digital transformation of todays celluloid film-based
distribution and exhibition systems. This transformation is considered
to be the most significant technological advancement in the cinema
industry since the advent of digital sound. It opens up many
possibilities — greater variety of content, lower cost of distribution,
and exhibition of better quality. In turn, this will open doors to
greater business opportunities worldwide. This emerging digital
delivery will change the manner in which businesses deliver movies
and entertainment to audiences worldwide and how consumers
experience movie watching in cinemas.

2003 is the year that GDC Technology, the Group’s D-cinema
operating arm, made history in the world of D-cinema market. We
are pleased to report that GDC Technology achieved the world’s
first 2K-picture resolution encoder and decoder, which is the
minimum standard laid down by Digital Cinema Initiative LLC (“DCI")
of the US for D-cinema. GDC Technology was selected to
demonstrate with Texas Instruments’” 2K digital-light-processor (“DLP”)
project in Hollywood and ShoWest in 2003. GDC Technology
was named the “Company of the Year” by Screen Digest’s
E-Cinema Alert for the contribution made to digital and
electronic cinema industry. GDC Technology made history by
delivering the worlds first D-cinema multiplex solution to DCI. DCl
was created in March 2002 as a joint venture of Disney, Fox,

MGM, Paramount, Sony Pictures Entertainment, Universal and
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Warner Bros. Studios. DCI's primary purpose is to establish and
document specifications for an open architecture for D-cinema
that ensures a uniform and high level of technical performance,

reliability and quality control.

Lately, GDC Technology provided a successful trial of the
live satellite broadcast of Beijings Love under the Sun charity
concert held on 27 November 2003. The event was the
first HDTV broadcast of a live concert to D-cinema theatres
in the PRC featuring high-quality images using GDC’s Digital
Super Realism (“DSR™") digital film server.

Two new products were launched during the last quarter of
2003. The DSR™ integrated digital film projection system
which features the world’s first 3-Chip DSR™ projector with
integrated data storage and server, and DSR™ Cineplex
Central Server which features the world’s first real-time
scheduling of any movie to any screen from a jukebox of
movies. At ShoWest 2004, GDC Technology’s DSR™ Cineplex
Central Server — GB 1000 has been chosen to showcase the $100
Million Dollar Reel, a montage of clips paying tribute to the top-
grossing movies of 2003. The DSR™ Cineplex Central Server — GB
1000 is the ideal solution for D-cinema multiplex that requires to
schedule and playback from a central storage of slides, commercial
clips, HD content, D-cinema movies to all the different screens.
The DSR™ Cineplex Central Server offers real-time, simultaneous
access of the digital movies in a network storage environment,
minimizing the storage cost and the time needed to transfer content
from one standalone D-cinema server to the other while maximizing
the operational efficiency in a D-cinema Cineplex by having the
freedom to real-time scheduling of any movie to any screen from a

jukebox of movies. DSR™ Cineplex Central Server leverages on
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standard [T hardware such as 2Gbps FC RAID storage, FC switches
and gigabit switches that are scalable in multiple dimensions,
capacity, performance and functionality.

GDC Technology has, during the year, continued to supply
its digital film servers to Mukta Adlabs Digital Exhibition
Limited (“Mukta Adlabs”) under a contract signed in 2002 for
the supply of a total of 1,400 servers over a five-year period
from 2003 to 2008. In just under one year, Mukta Adlabs
has built India’s largest digital distribution and exhibition
network with more than 90 electronic cinemas across the
country using DSR™ servers. Besides the Indian market, GDC
Technology is actively targeting the cinema circuits in the
US, the UK, Singapore, Thailand, Korea, China mainland,
Taiwan and Hong Kong.

The China Film Group recently announced that it would
continue to rollout D-cinemas according to plan. Adding to
the current number of D-cinemas in China mainland of 52,
there is a plan to rollout additional 50 digital screens before
the end of 2004. The development in the UK, another country
that GDC Technology focuses on, is spearheading its D-
cinema rollout plan. There is a total of 4 permanent D-cinema
sites throughout the country and there is the plan to rollout
250 digital screens across the UK. GDC Technology has supplied
2 servers and | encoder to Art Alliance of the UK and is in active

discussion with Art Alliance for the supply of more servers and

encoders.
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Worthy of mention is the recent collaboration by the Infocomm
Development Authority of Singapore and the Media Development
Authority of Singapore to develop the D-cinema industry in
In March 2004, GDC Technology completed the
installation of the worlds first 2K D-cinema multiplex in Eng Wah

Singapore.

Organization’s flagship five screen multiplex theatre at Suntec City
in Singapore. The five digital cinemas are the first of twenty digital
cinemas and one outdoor screen that will be installed by the end

of the second quarter, 2004.

Although the rollout of D-cinema worldwide is slower than
expected due to the shortage of first run film titles in digital
format, we have noted that rapid developments are taking place
as the film studios are gradually making films available to cater
for the strong demand.

Results for the year

The Group recorded a net loss for the year of approximately
HKS$33,149,000 (2002: HKS17,429,000), despite a near 90%
increase in turnover when compared with the previous year.
Management would like to explain the factors contributing to this
loss.

Since 2000, GDC has started, and is continuing to-date, its research
on digital content distribution technology, and has been incurring
costs on research and development necessary to bring the
technology into a commercial viable form. Such costs on research
and development were not capitalised as management considered
that the conditions necessary for the capitalisation of development
costs had not been met fully. Accordingly, such costs had to be
expensed.

Since 2000, GDC has also started to embark on the making of the

Film. During the year 2003, we had begun a programme to pre-
market the Film by attending various international CG exhibitions
and trade shows, as preparation work for the full launch of the
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Film at the Cannes Film Festival in May 2004, and to lay the
necessary groundwork for merchandising opportunities. Such costs
were expensed in the profit and loss account during the year, and
not capitalised and carried forward as production work in progress,
which would be the case for specific and direct production costs
relating to the Film. Similarly, GDC Technology, the Group’s D-
cinema operating arm, was heavily engaged on marketing of its
DSR™ range of products in Europe, US and Asia. We believe that
these expenditure formed a fundamental part of the product
development cycle of our business, which are regarded as necessary
and important.

As indicated in the prospectus of the Company dated 23 July 2003
[the “Prospectus”), we have made efforts to strengthen the
composition of our Board and senior executives. Our new Shanghai
training centre and production facility has only begun its operation
from the third quarter of 2003 and, therefore, had contributed
losses to the Group during the year. However, we anticipate that
the Shanghai operation will become a revenue contributor in 2004.

Outlook

We anticipate that revenue from Thru the Moebius Strip will
contribute positively to the Group’s cashflow in 2004. With our
advantages in both price and quality, we believe that we can
compete competitively for further businesses in CG. Going forward,
we will expand our Shanghai facility from CG training to production.
We will have our short format, tests, commercial, game arts, special
effects works in Shanghai. In addition, we are also engaged in
discussions with a few major US studios for “work for hire” services

as well.

We shall continue to deliver our DSR™ range of D-cinema
equipment to customers around the world, and to increase our
market share. Today, GDC Technology is the world leader in D-

cinema solution, and we have sold over 100 DSR™ servers in the
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marketplace. We are pushing the D-cinema concept in Asia and
other developing countries that do not need the 2K projectors.
2004 will see GDC Technology emerge as the market dominator

for both digital and electronic cinemas.

On the technology front, GDC will be working with the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in the research and development areas,
and has agreed to provide industry and partnership support to a
Joint project titled Augmented Reality Computing Arena for Digital
Entertainment, which has been qualified for funding from the Hong

Kong Innovation and Technology Commission.

Conclusion

I'would like to thank all the staff of the Group for their hard work
during the year and, in particular, the production staff at IDMT
Shenzhen in bringing the Film to its current form. We look forward

to bringing the Film to completion during 2004.

In conclusion, 2003 was the year spent in preparation of the
launch of our Group in digital content production, training and
technology. 2004 will be the year that we establish ourselves in

the world as a major player.

CEO’S REVIEW & OUTLOOK
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DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EREBAEBN

DIRECTORS

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh, SC, JP, aged 57/, is the Chairman
of the Board. Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh is responsible for the
operational and strategic planning of the Group. In October 1998,
at the invitation of the then Premier Zhu Rongji, he became the
Chief Advisor of the China Securities and Regulatory Commission.
He was appointed as the Chairman of the Hong Kong Securities
and Futures Commission (“SFC”) in 1995 in which capacity he
served until September 1998. Prior to chairing the SFC, he served
13 years in the Hong Kong Civil Service having served in various
directorate appointments before joining the private Bar in 1979.
During his time in the private Bar, he was active in public service,
serving as a member of many public boards. He is an actively
practising Senior Counsel of the Hong Kong Bar and is a member
of the California Bar and the English Bar. He was the Chairman of
the Technical Committee of the International Organisation of
Securities Commissions from 1996 to 1998. He also served as visiting
professor in many universities, including Peking, Tsinghua and
Harvard Universities. Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh is the elder brother

of Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh.

Executive Directors

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, aged 53, is the founder of the
Group. Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh is also the Chief Executive Officer
of the Group and the Chief Operating Officer in charge of the CG
creation and production business of the Group. He holds a Bachelor
degree in Business Administration from Hawaii Pacific University
and Master degree in International Management from the American
Graduate School of International Management in May 1976. He
has been involved in CG processing since early 19805 in California,
the US and is a voting member of the American Computer Machine
Association and a member of SIGGRAPH. In 1998, he obtained
support from the Hong Kong Government and the City University

of Hong Kong to establish Digital Content Development Corporation
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Limited ("DCDC"| and trained over 300 CG artists from 1998 to
early 2000. Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh was an executive director
of DCDC between 26 March 1999 and 13 October 2001. He also
set up the production pipeline which enabled DCDC to produce a
26 episode full CG television series, consisting of a total of 13
hours of animation. Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh is the younger

brother of Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh.

Mr. Richard Yin, aged 51, is the President of the Group, and is a
fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of both
England and Wales, and Australia. Mr. Yin has extensive experience
in various regulatory organisations, including Australian Securities
and Investments Commission, the New South Wales Corporate
Affair Commission and the SFC. Mr. Yin was a director of
Intermediaries Supervision Department in the SFC and was deputy
chief executive officer of SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited, a

company listed on the Main board of the Stock Exchange.

Non-executive Directors

Dr. David Deng Wei, aged 40, holds a bachelor degree in
Electronic Engineering and a master degree in Business
Administration. Dr. Deng holds various public positions in the PRC
such as acting as a member of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, and is a part-time professor at the Technical Institute
of the Harbin University. He has also received various awards for
his achievements in the PRC such as the 10" Annual “Ten Most

Outstanding Youth” in the PRC.
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Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung, aged 54, was a graduate of
the University of Hong Kong in 1972 and qualified as a chartered
accountant in England in 1977. Mr. Kwong was a partner of Price
Waterhouse Hong Kong from 1984 to 1998. He has served as a
part-time panel member of the Hong Kong Government’s Central
Policy Unit from 1993 to 1995 and was an independent member
of the Council of the Stock Exchange from 1992 to 1997 during
which time he also acted as convener of both the Compliance
Committee and the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange.
Currently, he is a non-executive director of COSCO Pacific Limited
and COSCO International Holdings Limited and independent non-
executive director of a number of other Hong Kong listed

companies.

Professor Japhet Sebastian Law, aged 52, obtained his Ph.D.
in Mechanical/Industrial Engineering from the University of Texas
at Austin in 1976. He joined the Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 1986. He was the Associate Dean and subsequently the Dean
of the Faculty of Business Administration of the Chinese University
of Hong Kong from 1993 until 2002. Prior to returning to Hong
Kong, Professor Law was the Director of Operation Research at
the Cullen College of Engineering and Director of Graduate Studies
in Industrial Engineering at the University of Houston, and was
also involved with the U.S. Space Program in his career with
McDonnell Douglas and Ford Aerospace in the United States.
Professor Law has acted as a consultant with various corporations
in Hong Kong and overseas. He is also active in public services,
having served as Member of the Provisional Regional Council of
the Hong Kong SAR Government, and is currently the Chairman of
Oxfam Hong Kong. Professor Law is a teaching Professor in the
Department of Decision Sciences and Managerial Economics at

the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Stephen Scharf, aged 54, is a partner in O'Melveny & Myers
LLPS Century City office and specialises in entertainment and media
finance. A substantial part of his practice involves motion picture,
television and multimedia financing transactions including banking
transactions, securitizations, tax shelter financings, completion
guaranties and equity investments. Mr. Scharf has worked on a
number of international motion picture financing transactions in
the United Kingdom, Germany, Japan, Hong Kong, Australia, and
Canada. Mr. Scharf obtained his J.D. at Stanford Law School in
1975.

Dato’” Mohd Ibrahim bin Mohd Zain, aged 60, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, with effect from 18
January 2004. Dato’ Mohd Ibrahim bin Mohd Zain, received his
Master of Business Administration from the University of Ohio, the
US in 1971. He was the chief executive of Amanah-Chase Merchant
Bank Berhad from 1978 to 1981 and the chief executive of Oriental
Bank Berhad from 1982 to 1985. Between 1985 to 1989, Dato’
Mohd Ibrahim bin Mohd Zain was the executive chairman of Setron
(M) Berhad and between 1988 to 1991, he was the chairman of
Bank Kerjasama Rakyat (Malaysia)] Berhad. He was a director of
Naval Dockyard Sdn Bhd from 1991 to 1996. Currently, Dato’
Monhd Ibrahim bin Mohd Zain is the chairman of Chemical Company
of Malaysia Berhad, Pan Malaysia Capital Bernad and Pan Malaysia
Holdings Berhad.
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Senior Management

Dr. Chong Man Nang, aged 38, is the Chief Technology Officer
of the Group in charge of the digital content distribution and
exhibitions business. Dr. Chong is responsible for the technical
support for the Groups CG production. He was the chief consultant
of Da Vinci Technologies Pte. Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the NASDAQ listed Acterna Incorporation from 2000 to 2002,
Dr. Chong was an Associate Professor at the School of Computer
Engineering, Nanyang Technological University of Singapore from
1992 to 2000. In 1996, he led a team to win the worldwide Texas
Instruments Digital Signal Processing Solutions Challenge award of
UsS$100,000. In 1999, Dr. Chong founded Nirvana Digital Pte.
Ltd., a leading digital signal processing company which was
subsequently acquired by Acterna Corporation in April 2000. Dr.
Chong is credited with the invention and successful commercial
release of Nirvana's award-winning RIVIVAL DIGITAL™ product lines.
Dr. Chong has also credited with Hollywood's production such as
20" Century Fox’s Kung Pow: Enter the Fist which was released on

2,480 screens in the US in January 2002.

Mr. Adrian Mak Yau Kee, aged 43, is the Chief Financial Officer
of the Group and Qualified Accountant of the Company. He is a
fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Society of
Accountants. Mr. Mak has over 19 years of accounting and
corporate finance experience in the private and public sectors
gained in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. Prior to his current
position, Mr. Mak was the Chief Financial Officer for CyberCity
Holdings Limited. Between 1992 and 2000, Mr. Mak was an
associate director of the Corporate Finance Division at the SFC
with responsibilities for regulating takeover and merger transactions
and developing listing policy with the Stock Exchange. Mr. Mak
graduated from the University of Birmingham with a B.Sc. Degree

in Chemical Engineering.
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Ms. Amelia Mak Lai Yu, aged 57/, is the Chief Administration
Officer and Legal Adviser of the Group responsible for legal,
administration and corporate affairs. She was the Legal Executive
in charge of the Litigation Department of H.H. Lau & Co., Solicitors
from 1974 to 1980. Between 1981 and 1989, she became the
legal adviser to Young Chi Shing Group. From 1989 to 1995, she
became the Legal Adviser and Company Secretary to Miramar Hotel
and Investment Co. Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange.
Since 1995, she served for two years as Legal Adviser in the Guoco
and Dao Heng Group and thereafter returned to the Young Chi

Shing Group.

Ms. Ellen Ling Xu, aged 41, is the Studio Manager of Institute
of Digital Media Technology (Shenzhen) Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. Ms. Xu graduated from Shangdong
Teachers University with a Bachelor of Arts degree in English
language and literature. Ms. Xu has over 7 years of experience in
the animation industry and was a production manager of Pacific
Rim Animation Co. Ltd., an American animation studio in Shenzhen,
the PRC from 1992 to 1994 and the producer of the Spanish
television series The Adventure of Professor Thomason. She also
has over 7 years of experience in marketing. She had served as
one of the judges for Animation of Golden Eagle Award, the biggest
award for TV programs in the PRC and is currently an active member

of Cartoon Commission of the Chinese TV Artists Association.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover for the Group was approximately HKS 11,478,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2003 (2002: HKS$2,306,000), which
represented an increase of 397% as compared with the previous
financial year. The increase was derived from the sales of D-cinema
equipment, following the successful commercialisation of these

products in early 2003.

The cost of sales for the year amounted to approximately
HK$8,428,000, giving a gross profit of HK$3,050,000, representing
a gross profit percentage of 26%. By way of comparison, the Group
recorded a gross loss of HK$922,000 for the year ended 31
December 2002.

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2003
totalled HKS27,648,000 (2002: HKS11,644,000). The reasons for
the increase was attributable to the higher personnel costs, rental
and utility expenses for the newly set up training centre in Shanghai,
and marketing and business development costs for promotion of

the Groups businesses at international trade shows and exhibitions.

Other operating expenses, which comprised mainly research and
development costs for digital content distribution and exhibitions,
amounted to HKS4,261,000 for the year (2002: HKS$3,089,000).
The increase in operating expenses was attributable to the increase
in the headcount for research and development personnel from 5

to 10.

The total finance costs amounted to approximately HKS5,816,000
for the year (2002: HKS1,796,000). The increase in finance costs
was attributable to the drawing down of two commercial bank
loans denominated in RMB in October 2002 and March 2003
respectively, and increases in obligations under finance leases which
were taken out for the purchase of new computer equipment for

CG production in Shenzhen and CG training centre in Shanghai.
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Borrowing costs capitalised by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2003 amounted to HKS561,000 (2002: HKSnil).

Overall the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$33,149,000 for the year ended 31 December 2003, which
represented an increase of 90% over the loss of approximately
HKS 17,429,000 for the previous year. Loss per share increased to
HK4.63 cents for the year, compared with HKZ.64 cents for the

previous year.

On a quarter-to-quarter basis, the net loss for the fourth quarter of
2003 was HKS$10,388,000. This net loss was in line with the net
loss reported of HKS 11,097,000 for the third quarter of 2003, as
the level of expenditure during the fourth quarter of 2003 was

generally in line with the expenditure for the third quarter.

Turnover

Revenue from the sales of the Groups DSR™ range of D-cinema
equipment amounted to approximately HKS8,599,000. Sales of
the Group’s DSR™ digital film servers totalled over 100 units, which
have been installed in D-cinemas across India, Singapore, Thailand,

Taiwan and the US.

As stated in the Prospectus, the Group had entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Mukta Adlabs for the provision of a total
of 1,400 DSR™ Digital Film Servers between the period from January
2003 to January 2008.

The Group continued to record revenue from the CG training
courses in Shenzhen and Shanghai. The former is operating in
cooperation with Shenzhen University. The training course, which
has a total intake of 150 students at a fee of RMBI17,150 per
course and ran from September 2003 to May 2004, provides a
steady revenue stream for the Group. In September 2003, the
Group enrolled a total of 156 students in Shenzhen. The CG training
centre in Shanghai was completed during September 2003. 60
students were enrolled in the training course at a fee of RMB25,000

per course.
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Production work in progress

As at 31 December 2003, the Group had two projects currently in
production, namely the film project Thru the Moebius Strip and a
TV series Panshel’s World. The costs of the making of these CG
productions are capitalised and carried forward under production
work in progress in the balance sheet, in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy on film costs and films under production.
The costs included internal costs such as the direct costs of
production at the Group’s studio in Shenzhen, and external costs
such as fees paid to overseas supervisors, consultants, artistic talents

directly attributable to the productions.

Comments on segmental information

Revenues from digital content distribution and exhibitions which
comprised sales revenue of D-cinema products, rental income from
equipment leasing, and franchise fee from digital cinema amounted
to approximately HKS8,901,000 for the year (2002: HKS254,000),

representing /8% of the total revenue of the Group for the year.

Revenues from CG training amounted to approximately
HKS2,577,000 for the year (2002: HKS2,052,000), representing
22% of the total revenue of the Group for the year. The increase in
the revenue is due to the addition of the second CG training

centre in Shanghai.

Due to the delay in the launch of the franchise business model for
D-cinema equipment, revenue from franchise fees and box office
receipts from distribution of digital motion pictures amounted to
HK$72,000 (2002: HKS48,000) and HK$S93,000 (2002:
HKS151,000), respectively, which were relatively minor when

compared with the revenues from other sources.

No revenue has yet been generated from CG content creation

and production.

The segmental results for CG creation and production recorded a
loss of HKS6,408,000 (2002: HKS3,515,000). This represented the
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general marketing and overhead costs which were not directly
attributable to the CG production and hence were written off to

the profit and loss account.

The segmental results for digital content distribution and exhibitions
recorded a loss of approximately HKS8,824,000 for the year (2002:
HKS8,285,000). It should be noted that the research and
development costs had not been capitalised in the balance sheet
as the conditions required for such capitalisation had, in the view

of the Directors, not been met.

The segmental results for CG training courses recorded a loss of
approximately HK$4,078,000 (2002: HKS1,189,000). The loss had
increased because the training centre in Shanghai has not yet

reached its full capacity.

Liquidity and financial resources

The aggregate outstanding borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2003 were approximately HK$53,323,000 (2002:
HKS66,259,000), representing finance lease obligations, bank
borrowings denominated in RMB, loans from shareholders, other

loans and advances from an officer.

As at 31 December 2003, the Group had a total cash balance of
approximately HKS$21,889,000 (2002: HKS8,089,000).

Maturity profile of debts and interest rates

As at 31 December 2003, the Group had the following debt profile:

(i) A secured commercial bank loan denominated in RMB of
approximately HKS 14,143,000 (2002: HKS14,143,000) from
Bank of China which bears interest at 0.5% per month and

falls due in October 2004;
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(ii) A secured commercial bank loan denominated in RMB of
approximately HKS$14,143,000 (2002: HKSnil) from
Shenzhen Commercial Bank which bears interest at 0.5%

per month and falls due in March 2005;

(i) Finance lease obligations totalling approximately
HKS 13,501,000 (2002: HKS12,870,000) which bear rates
of interest between 6.9% and 10.3% for finance leases over

the period of the respective leases;

(iv) Unsecured loans from a shareholder of approximately
HKS 11,536,000 (2002: HKS11,746,000), which bear interest
at the best lending rate as quoted by Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited from time to time
plus 3% per annum, which are not repayable within twelve

months from 31 December 2003.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group, based on total borrowings to
shareholders” equity was 78% (2002: 1,221%).

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and any related

hedges

The Group's assets are predominately denominated in Hong Kong
dollars or RMB, and its revenues are predominately United States
dollars based. Therefore, it does not anticipate significant exposure
to fluctuations in exchange rates, under the currency peg

arrangement.

The Group has not implemented or entered into any type of
instruments or arrangements to hedge against currency exchange
fluctuations during the year. As at 31 December 2003, the Group

did not have any outstanding hedging instruments.

Charge on assets

Finance lease

GDC China Limited ("GDC China”) and GDC Technology, both

indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, have entered
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into finance leases for equipment financing, relating principally to
computer equipment for CG production. As at 31 December 2003,
the net book value of the leased assets was approximately
HKS$10,389,000 (2002: HKS11,630,000).

Banking facilities

On 31 October 2002, banking facilities of RMB30,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HKS$28,286,000) had been obtained
by IDMT Shenzhen from Bank of China, Shenzhen branch (“BOC
Facilities”). The Group had drawn down RMB15,000,000 on 31
October 2002. The BOC Facilities are guaranteed by Global Digital
Creations Limited and &5 B #ER AR 2 7 or China Investment
Credit Guarantee Limited* ("CICG"), an independent third party
("CICG Guarantee”). Global Digital Creations Limited and Mr.
Raymond Dennis Neoh have given counter-guarantees in favour
of CICG, and GDC China, has pledged its entire interest in the
registered capital of IDMT Shenzhen to CICG ("BOC Asset Pledge”)
for the repayment of all debts incurred by CICG for which CICG is
liable under the CICG Guarantee. The guarantee given by Global
Digital Creations Limited will be effective till two years upon the
expiry of the term of the bank loan. The counter-guarantee given
by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh remained effective as at 31 December
2003. The counter-guarantee given by Global Digital Creations
Limited, and the BOC Asset Pledge will remain effective until IDMT
Shenzhen has repaid all debts under the BOC Facilities.

On 21 March 2003, another banking facilities of RMB30,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HKS28,286,000) had been obtained
by IDMT Shenzhen from Shenzhen Commercial Bank in Shenzhen
(“SCB Facilities”), and the Group had drawn down RMBI15,000,000
on the same day. The SCB Facilities are guaranteed by CICG (“SCB
Guarantee”) and will expire on 21 March 2005. The guarantee
given by CICG shall be effective for three years after the expiry of
the SCB Facilities. The Company and Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh

have given counter-guarantees to CICG, and GDC China has

* for identification purposes only
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pledged its entire interest in the registered capital of IDMT Shenzhen
["SCB Asset Pledge”) to CICG for the repayment of all debts incurred
by CICG for which CICG is liable under the SCB Guarantee. The
counter-guarantees given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh and the
Company, and the SCB Asset Pledge will remain effective until

IDMT Shenzhen has repaid all debts under the SCB Facilities.

As stated in the Prospectus, the Directors confirmed that
arrangements will be made to releasing the said counterguarantee
given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh following the listing of the
Shares on GEM. The Directors would like to report that
arrangements are in progress but agreement on the revised terms

has not been reached with CICG.

Lien relating to the Film

GDC Entertainment Limited ("GDC Entertainment”), an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered into a
Security Agreement in favour of the Screen Actors Guild pursuant
to which GDC Entertainment granted to SAG a security interest in
all of its assets relating to the Film to secure, among other things,
the payment of all sums owing under the applicable union collective
bargaining agreement to the actors and actresses whose voices
were recorded for use in the Film, including any additional
compensation owing to the actors and actresses under the union
collective bargaining agreement when the Film containing the
voices of the actors and actresses is exhibited on free television or
on pay television or when copies of the Film are sold on home
video devices. This Security Agreement is a standard agreement
required to be entered into whenever members of the Screen
Actors Guild are employed to render services in connection with a

motion picture that is not being produced by a major US studio.
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Apart from the above, there were no further charges on assets of

the Group.

Capital structure

On 25 and 26 June 2003, the Company allotted and issued
945,311 and 2,302,681 shares of the Company (“Shares”) of
HKS$0.01 each to two pre-listing investors at cash considerations of
HKS 11,700,000 and HKS28,500,000 respectively. The excess of
the aggregated cash consideration over the nominal value of Shares
of HKS40,168,000 was credited to the share premium account of

the Company.

On 1 August 2003, the Company allotted and issued 66,300,000
Shares of HKS0.01 each to investors through the initial public
offering at the issue price of HKS1.00 per Share, resulting in receipt
of a total cash consideration of HKS$66,300,000. The excess of the
aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of shares of
HKS65,637,000 was credited to the share premium account of the
Company.

On the same date, 670,452,008 Shares were allotted as fully paid
at par to the shareholders whose names appeared on the register
of members of the Company in proportion to their respective
shareholdings at the close of business on 1 August 2003 by way
of capitalisation of the sum of HKS6,704,520 standing to the credit

of the share premium account of the Company.

Future plans for material investments and expected source

of financing

There are currently no plans for material investments, except for
co-investment in CG production related projects. The Group shall
continue to invest in capital assets for CG productions and
anticipates that it will continue to utilise finance lease arrangements

for funding, where available.
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Material acquisitions and disposals

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals for

the year ended 31 December 2003.

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December

2003 and 31 December 2002 respectively.

Code of conduct

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company
confirmed that its Directors have complied with the required
standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding directors’

securities transactions.

Pension schemes

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes
which are available to all employees in Hong Kong and Singapore.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the

Group in independently administered funds.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in a pension scheme
registered under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(the “MPF Scheme”| for its employees. Under the MPF Scheme,
each of the Group and its employees makes monthly contribution
to the scheme at 5% of the eligible employee’s earnings. Monthly
contribution is limited to 5% of HK$20,000 of salary for each eligible

employee.

A subsidiary of the Group makes monthly contribution to the Central
Provident Fund Board for its employees in Singapore. During the
year ended 31 December 2003, the contribution rate by the Group
ranged from 4% to 16% and the contribution rate by its employees

ranged from 5% to 20%.

The Group$ retirement costs charged to the profit and loss account
for the year ended 31 December 2003 amounted approximately
to HKS 1,101,000 (2002: HKS780,000).
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Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the government in the PRC,
the subsidiaries in China mainland participate in the municipal
government contribution scheme whereby the subsidiaries are
required to contribute to the scheme for the retirement benefit of
eligible employees. The municipal government of the PRC is
responsible for the entire benefit obligations payable to the retired
employees. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the

scheme is to pay the on-going contribution required by the scheme.

Human resources

The number of the Group’s employees (including the Directors)

are set out as follows:

iscussi s EEENBRsy [
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2003 2002
—EE=F —FF-F
Management ME@ 8 6
CG creation and production i B 5 81 I B4k 228 200
CG training i 1Bl 5 5 1 24 9
Digital cinema equipment ABTRRBRIE
production 6 -
Research and development Tt 3% % f 8% 10 5
Sales and marketing BHE N5 R 12 2
Finance and administration B I R AT IR 25 21
Support staff BHET 22 6
Total it 335 249

As at 31 December 2003, the Group employed 335 full time staff
(2002: 249) at market remuneration with employee benefits such
as medical coverage, insurance plan, mandatory provident fund,
discretionary bonus and employee share option scheme. Staff costs
for the year ended 31 December 2003 increased to approximately
HKS31,421,000 (2002: HKS24,128,000).

The Group did not experience any significant labour disputes or
substantial change in the number of its employees that led to the
disruption of it normal business operations. The Directors consider
the Groups relationship with its employees to be good.
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS ‘ FBACHERRBERELY

Business objectives up

to 31 December 2003 as stated

in the Prospectus
HBUMARB 2 BRERZME
BEEz-2E=F+-RA=t+t—-HL
ZEBBER

CG creation and

production

SREGAIFERRE

42

Complete Thru the Moebius Strip

production and premier.
SEFK Thru the Moebius StripBfE 2 £ &

2D e

Sign up a US distributor for Thru the
Moebius Strip.
BB 1T Thru the Moebius Strip8 %

—BITERITAN -

Pre-sell Thru the Moebius Strip to markets
other than the US.

A 3E B LA SN 2 T 5 FE 88 Thru the
Moebius Strip °

Set up a merchandising arm and begin
licensing of merchandise in the PRC
market and other target markets.
EXRVEMBERS  LRAETFER
HBEMSHERERmOFNE -

Actual business progress

Thru the Moebius Strip is currently in the

final post-production stage.
Thru the Moebius Strip2Z 1% B 8L {E B #&
RS -

Senator has been appointed as the
international sales agent (excluding Japan,
China and North America) and negotiation
with a US domestic sales agent is in
progress.

SenatorEEZBEREFHE KR (T8
EEA - RE RIEEM) - LIEHEXE
ALZHERERER -

Pre-sale contracts for certain countries had
been signed subsequent to the year ended
31 December 2003.

CEE=FF+ A=+ -HLEFE
% BEETERFLEHEEH -

A merchandising arm has been set up.
Negotiation is underway regarding licensing
of merchandise.

EXRVEmEERS  REAXkBHER
ZERE -



Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual Business Progress

Business objectives up

to 31 December 2003 as stated
in the Prospectus
HBUMARB 2 BRERZME
BE-_ZZ=-F+-RA=+—-HL
ZEBBER

5 Issue beta version of Thru the Moebius
Strip online game in Greater China.
£ KA EM R 1T Thru the Moebius
Strip #8 L # B < FMR ©

6 Begin development of prototype of the
Thru the Moebius Strip and Sandman
console games in the US with Equinoxe.
i B Equinoxe & 1EE X BIF % Thru
the Moebius Stripk Sandmani B 2 #)
fR ©

7 Publish first issue of CG, games and
digital cinema print and e-magazine.
MR AR ERE & - B - BB
ITEN R & TR a5 2 8 ISR -

8  Recruit around 50 digital artists from
graduates of the 3¢ CG training course.
CE-HMERBEGREZLEXET
HBEHSOA o

EBERHEREBEELR

Actual business progress

Negotiation is underway for development of
a beta version of Thru the Moebius Strip
on-line game.

BB % Thru the Moebius Strip #8 £
Bz —FHEBRKT -

The project is currently on hold pending the
response to the Film and further
negotiation.
HREANEDSHETAHRE - Rt
ERMEAMER  ULBFER -

The project is currently on hold pending
further negotiation.

ERMEARER  UGBFER -

67 digital artists were recruited.

BERINHBEE/RER -
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Business objectives up

to 31 December 2003 as stated

in the Prospectus

HBUMARB 2 BRERZME

HE-ST=F+-A=f-AL
ZEBER
9  Finalise agreements with WAMC, Inc. for

production of the first 26 episodes of the
New Adventures of Raggedy Ann and
Andy, and that of Panshel, the Flying
Panda and commence their pre-
production.

BB AE New Adventures of Raggedy
Ann and AndyZ B 265 K Panshel, the
Flying Pandaz Bl & » B WAMC, Inc3%&
B UHIGETABEE-

Finalise the agreement for the feature film
Bit and Byte and commence pre-
production.

HEBAERF Bitand Byreli B - I
FlIAHETT AT A RLAE -

Actual business progress

Agreement had been finalised with WAMC
Inc. and the production of the TV series for
Panshel, the Flying Panda (now renamed
Panshel’s World) had begun during the last
quarter of 2003. The project New
Adventures of Raggedy Ann and Andy will
not be pursued.
BB 1) B WAMC, IncE B - R =
ZZ=F K& —FHRBHREPanshel, the
Flying Panda (3R 2% & Panshel’s World)
BERETE - BT HENew
Adventures of Raggedy Ann and Andy °

GDC had decided not to pursue this project
after a further assessment.
RBE—FRE REEBATHEL

HH -



Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual Business Progress

Business objectives up

to 31 December 2003 as stated
in the Prospectus
HBUMARB 2 BRERZME
BE-_ZZ=-F+-RA=+—-HL
ZEBBER

'l Finalise the appointment of Overseas
Chinese Town (Hong Kong) Limited as
merchandising agent of the Company in
the PRC.
BRERIEAEBHABERARRF
ZEmHERE -

12 Begin pre-production of sequel to Thru
the Moebius Strip.
B 88 Thru the Moebius StripiB BB 2
AR -

13 Issue first comics based on Thru the
Moebius Strip.
BITE EAThru the Moebius Strip &

EAHEE -

14 Begin development of next on-line game

and localisation of Korean and Japanese

games.
FIIGAT A LR - Y AW LR
SUEBBIR & B AR

Actual business progress

Negotiation is underway.

HEERS -

Not yet begun.
NGRS

Not yet begun.
NGRS

Negotiation commenced with a game
company to begin development of on-line

game.
BRI EBARRAER  UER
BLEBE -
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Business objectives up

to 31 December 2003 as stated

in the Prospectus

HUOAQPBAZHRE
BE—

2 &
EE=FE+-ZHA=+—H1

ZEBER

Digital content I

distribution and

exhibition
FERNBBRTRER
2
3
4
5

46

Supply digital cinema and equipment to
Adlabs.
[FAdlabs HEBB B R -

Sign up around 50 and 25 cinemas in the
PRC and the rest of Asia respectively for
the supply of digital projection and
playback equipment.
EPBEEASOFER R R EZME M
R BEHSHEFRREITEAN - IR
HEBRE RO BERE -

Keep in close touch with SMPTE
Committee DC28 and work on
compliance.

HSMPTE Committee DC28R 35 2 1) Bt
Mo WHEBERIE-

Market digital cinema in Singapore and
Hong Kong.
ERERFMBPERBEB R

Begin planning for digital cinema
advertising operations.

R EEEHB 2 TE -

Actual business progress

EREXBEE

In progress.

HEITH o

The launch of further D-cinemas under the
franchise model is currently delayed for
reasons as set out in the section headed
“Use of Proceeds from the Company’s IPO”
of this annual report.

IR FR AR BERRFAR PG
RIERE] - - R EEBEFT
REBAEHEBZ R

On—goingv
BEET -

Sales to Singapore had begun and
negotiation is underway for Hong Kong.
ERBRAMMEEERBE R UK
BREHERBE —FETER °

Only 2 D-cinemas were setup under the
franchise model. As such it is not possible to
attract advertisement.
REBRFELEFRBRAR KM
Fh BRBEBT ARSI ESEHE -
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Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual Business Progress %% B EHEMEKEE LK %S

Business objectives up

to 31 December 2003 as stated
in the Prospectus
HBUMARB 2 BRERZME
BE-_ZZ=-F+-RA=+—-HL
ZEBBER

6 Complete BDC evaluation of the Group’s
digital cinema equipment.
BOCTEMH A BB R BT
fli °

7 Setup at least 1 digital cinema
demonstration site in the US.
EXRBIKY &P —A&HE R
e

8 Continue with research and development
of the evolving digital cinema technology
and specification.
BETITHRAHFARZBBE AR
EITHE IR -

I Set up CG training centre in Shanghai

and recruit students.
EEBRIBRBEGEINER -

2 Commence the CG training courses in
Shanghai, the PRC.
FERE EBRNEKEGIEIRE -

3 Commence the 4" CG training course in
Shenzhen, the PRC.
£ BURYI 5 9% 56 10 90 E s B R 15
IR e

Actual business progress

EREXBEE

BDC evaluation was completed.
BDC B R AT ©

The demo site was set up in California, AMC,

Santa Monica theatre.
EEE M FI4EE 32 M AMC, Santa Monica
Theatref{ 3 7~ & 2f ©

On-going.
HBEET -

CG training centre in Shanghai was set up
in August 2003.
RZ2P=F)\AELERIEKER
FAlF L o

Training commenced in August 2003.

R-ZZE=F)\ARKEIRE -

Intake for the 4™ CG training course
commenced in September 2003.
FMPERBEERBEIRER _FTT=F
NARE -
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING | A2 R E XA K HE

RERERE

The Directors had explained the reasons for the changes in the
application of the net proceeds raised from the listing of the Shares
on GEM of the Stock Exchange in August 2003 (the “IPO Proceeds”)
and in the “Statement of business objectives” in an announcement
made by the Company dated 26 February 2004. The Directors
would like to set out below the reasons, as required by the GEM

Listing Rules.

The net amount of IPO Proceeds, after deduction of related
commission and expenses, amounted to approximately HKS53.3
million. A comparison of the proposed usage of IPO Proceeds
made in the Prospectus against the actual usage for the year

ended 31 December 2003 is set out as follows.

EEAARAR_ZEENF_AZ+XAT
B2RH FRRERARARNE_TT=F
NBEBXAMAIER EMARAREESRG M
SRE(BERALAAKRMERE] FERE
REBEEBHZREE BBFRAERLE™T
RACZHREETXHINEBRA -

BRARBRAGSREZFE(MNMEREERBE X
EMA&) 45330000087 - R BRER
NZERAHBRASHREBEZEZZREAS
E-ZTZF+-AZ+BLEEZER
R&E#E#FIMT

Actual usage up

to 31 December

Application of proceeds Proposed usage 2003 Difference
E-EE=H
TZA=+—-8BZ2
P& B P8 RRE o= ERRAR =
HKS mil HKS mil HKS mil
BEET BEET BEET
Strengthening management &8 E A &
and international B bR 35
marketing team HEKME 4.9 33 (1.6)
Developing digital REHEZ R
cinema distribution BITHRSE
network 1.5 3.1 1.6
Research and development ot ¢ K f 8%
of digital cinema BIEE
technologies il 2.4 2.4 0.0
Production maintenance BEITER
and co-financing e LA 32 20.9 17.7
Working capital BEEAS 2.5 3 0.6
Total # A 14.5 32.8 18.3

48



Use of Proceeds from the Company’s Initial Public Offering AA BB X AHBEBRFAESHER R

HOLDINGS

Reasons for the increase in the usage of IPO Proceeds in

developing digital cinema distribution network

Since the publication of the Prospectus, the Group experienced
certain changes in the market conditions brought about by
technological advancement in the D-cinema marketplace. As stated
in the section headed “Statement of business objectives” in the
Prospectus, the Group had, under the franchise business model,
originally targeted the signing up to around 50 and 25 cinemas in
the PRC and the rest of Asia respectively for the supply of digital
projection and playback equipment by the end of 31 December
2003. The Group has delayed the implementation of the franchise
business model for D-cinemas in the PRC and the rest of Asia for

the reasons set forth below.

The franchise model for D-cinema was based on the use of
projectors which carry the technical standard approved by the
Hollywood major film distributors. The digital distribution of major
films, however, did not accelerate as anticipated but instead, the
Digital Cinema Initiative ("“DCI") decided in the third guarter of
2003, to raise the bar of D-cinema standard to a resolution of 2K
(which requires a projector at the resolution of 1,080 x 2,048
lines). Although the Group’s product has already been upgraded
to the 2K resolution standard in the third quarter of 2003, projector
manufacturers of 2K digital light processor (“DLP"] Cinema™
projectors (which is @ component in the Group’s product, DSR™
servers), could only produce small quantities of the 2K DLP Cinema™

projectors with resolution standard of late last year.

Due to the unavailability of such key component for the servers
and projectors of matching technical capability, the Group had to
slow down the rollout plan of the franchise model for D-cinema.
The existing D-cinema projectors could only project at a resolution

of up to 1.3K, and the market had to wait for the new 2K projectors

BNERERARABRAGHEAREREE
ThRETREZREA

BRBRERAEAR  AEERAMS LY
BERMRESMERE —LNE - HOAR
ERATXHEFRBR MM - KN KEAKF
REBN  VHBEEREE_TT=F1=
A=Z+t—BZAa R EFBEAERENOS R
R EDMEMBE RO 2XERETE
W NHEEBREZREARSKRE AEE&K
REBETBRRSMNE M RETHFEE
EBESL - REAMT -

TR BT RS EBERNERERRY
WEFEXRTEMABAT ZEMER - &
2 XEETCEERT WRALEEM
R R DOEZZZE=ZFF=FERER
FHEHS B 2 RBUSEZE 2K R [T (IR MR AR
BEEA 1,080 x 2,04877) * HERNEE 2
ERTC_ZSE=-FE-FEERAZ2KHEE
2B - AT - 2K BHS B ok iR 1R 88 ([ 805
BHEIEER]) Cinema™ 1B (1t I AKH
Em— DSRVIRTS R el 1) <R & &
B RERMIEREFREEZREERE
Z2KEUIS B Y R 1B 22 Cinema'™ 1% Bk i -

FRBEBAMZ IR  REEGREBRE
THEARMAE  AKBELARBIEHELH
BERZBAELERA - BEEBIR 2R
MEAERGTEBEE I SKRTEEESRF
B 2K ERE (BREEEETBERGAAZK
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(assuming that Hollywood's major studios would actually settle on
the 2K standards). The execution of the franchise model had,
therefore, been delayed, pending the wider availability of the DLP

and 2K projectors.

Additional amounts of resource from the IPO Proceeds were applied
to “Developing digital cinema distribution network” because of the
lower than expected revenue and cash inflow from this line of
business. Since the Group did not have alternative source of finance
and the limited cash resources generated internally during the
initial phase of operation, the Group had to use the cash from the
IPO Proceeds to finance the development of digital cinema
distribution network. The additional amount applied to this line of
business up to 31 December 2003 was approximately

HKS1,599,000.

The Group had consequently concentrated its efforts in the sales
of its products to India, which does not require such high resolution
standard, and the rest of the world rather than waiting for the 2K
projectors to become available. For the above reasons, the targets
as stated in the section headed “Statement of business objectives”

of the Prospectus had to be delayed.

Due to the abovementioned reasons, revenue generated from
“Developing digital cinema distribution network” activities was lower
than expected and, the Group had applied additional IPO Proceeds
on such activities and therefore accelerated the use of the IPO

Proceeds.

Reasons for increased usage of IPO Proceeds for

Production maintenance and co-financing

At the time of the IPO, the Directors expected that pre-sale contracts
for certain countries/territories in respect of the distribution rights
of the Film would have been concluded and completed by 31
December 2003, bringing pre-sale proceeds to finance the
production. However, the management of the Group had

subsequently determined, upon advice from its sales agent, that it
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would be in the interest of the Group and its Shareholders to
develop the Film into a substantially completed form before entering
into any negotiation for pre-sale, so as to achieve the best possible
price. As stated in the third quarterly report of the Company for
2003, the Group targeted to complete the Film in marketable
form in the first quarter of 2004 and is optimistic that a significant
number of pre-sale contracts for international distribution rights
excluding North America, China and Japan, will be concluded

soon thereafter.

Editing work on the Film has recently been completed and the
Film is in the final stage of the post-production phase, pending
the finalization of the theme and background music scores and
the recording by musicians. The Group has contracted the Slovak
Radio Symphony Orchestra and Chorus for the orchestral
performance of the film music, but due to the unavailability of
time for theme music recording in Bratislava, Czechoslovakia, and
sound stage time for final mix in Los Angeles, the US, these final
stages of production are only available in early and mid April 2004

respectively.

Consequently, the target date for production of a final HD digital
version is at the beginning of May 2004, in time for possible
exhibition at the Cannes Film Festival, scheduled from 12 to 23
May 2004 to be held in Cannes, France. To date, the Group has
appointed Senator as international sales agent (excluding North
America, China and Japan), appointed a sales agent for the
Japanese market, and is in discussion with potential sales agents

for China.

Since the pre-sale revenue of the Film did not materialise in late
2003, the Company had applied IPO Proceeds, to the amount of
HK$20,918,000 (which would have been substantially financed
from the pre-sale proceeds of the Film), to, inter-alia, carry out the

abovementioned work required for the completion of the Film.

BEERIERREALD  UEREEZE
e MNARB _EE=FE=FFTEARF
Frit » AEEBR-_ZENFEZTERANTK
BRYZTBHERA  WHREREBRETE
METZHEBEEH(TBELEMN - PEK
BAR) R BISE -

BN BT ERABTK - MBATEEA
BEHRENRERR  HEHREEE  BR
BHERBEMES  AEEEIHEL S L
E %M FSlovak Radio Symphony
Orchestra R M EE - BEHNKHEER - Bt
ERRHMU BN EAEL TR S £

g UREEEATRETRERS T
REDFR-BEBMEMANEEA R
7 -

At TREEREEEREBERBR
—ZEEMERAY MER-_ZZEMFAA
TZBE_ST=ZBRZEBERRBRIELEH
RIER - BAT - NEE B ZESenators B
HERE (FBELEEMN FERBRE) - &
EEAATEMET —HERE  LAITA
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited accounts
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the

“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2003.

GROUP REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 9 October 2002
as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda. Pursuant to a group reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”), which was completed on 31 December 2002,
to rationalise the structure of the Group in preparation for the
listing of the shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange, the Company
became the holding company of companies comprising the Group.
The shares of the Company were listed on GEM on 4 August
2003.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 13 to the

accounts.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated

profit and loss account on page 74.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during

the year are set out in note 26 to the accounts.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in fixed assets are set out in note 12 to

the accounts.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out

in note 25 to the accounts.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2003,

calculated under section 54 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda, amounted to HKS5,108,000 (2002: HKS$5,027,000).

THREE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the

Group for the last three years is set out on page 142.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

are.

Executive Directors:

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Richard Yin (President) '

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh (Chairman)
Dr. David Deng Wei ?

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung *
Professor Japhet Sebastian Law 2

Mr. Stephen Scharf ?
Dato” Mohd Ibrahim bin Mohd Zain °

Alternate Director:

Mr. Zhang Dong Sheng (Alternative to Dr. David Deng Wei)

Non-executive Directors who were appointed to hold office on 15
April 2003 shall hold office until the Companys forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

Report of the Directors & % & % EHOLDINGS
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! Appointed as non-executive Director on 15 April 2003 and re-

designated as executive Director on 8 October 2003.

? Appointed on 15 April 2003.

’ Appointed on 15 April 2003, resigned on 26 June 2003 and
reappointed on 18 January 2004.

Details of retirement/appointment/removal of Directors
under Bye-laws

The Bye-laws provide that at first Annual General Meeting of the
Company, the Directors appointed to fill casual vacancies on the
Board, being Mr. Richard Yin, Dr. David Deng Wei, Mr. Gordon
Kwong Che Keung, Professor Japhet Sebastian Law, Mr. Stephen
Scharf, Dato” Mohd Ibrahim bin Mohd Zain, shall hold office until
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting of the Company.

Al subsequent Annual General Meetings, one third of the Directors
shall retire by rotation and shall, if eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by

means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of
the Company, their spouse or children under 18 years of age, to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the foregoing and the related party transactions referred

to in note 29 to the accounts, there were no other contracts of
significance in relation to the Group$§ business to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, was a party and in which a
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

There are no Directors’ service contracts of any Director proposed

for re-election in which the period unexpired cannot be terminated
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation

(other than statutory compensation).

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Exempt connected transactions

The following exempt connected transactions of financial assistance
in nature subsisted during the year:

Loans from Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh has advanced various loans to the Group
totalling approximately HKS 11,536,000 as at 31 December 2003.
Interest is accrued from day to day on the outstanding principal
amount of this facility at the best lending rate as quoted by
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation from time to time
plus 3% per annum. This facility is unsecured with no fixed
repayment terms. Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh has confirmed that
he will not seek repayment from the Group within twelve months
from 31 December 2003 or a date upon which such repayment
would not have material adverse effect on the operation of the
Group and implementation of the Group’s business objectives as
set out in the Prospectus. As Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh is the
chairman of the Company, a non-executive Director and an initial
management shareholder, as defined under the GEM Listing Rules,
a transaction between Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh and the Group
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company. However,
the transaction is based on normal commercial terms (or better)
and should therefore be exempt from reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders” approval requirements under GEM
Listing Rule 20.52(2).
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Counter-guarantee given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh and Global
Digital Creations Limited in respect of a bank loan made to the
Group

As stated on page 37 of this annual report, Mr. Raymond Dennis
Neoh and Global Digital Creations Limited have given counter-
guarantees in favour of CICG for the repayment of all the debts
incurred by CICG for which CICG is liable under the guarantee
given by it in respect of the BOC Facilities. No security or
consideration has been given by any member of the Group to Mr.
Raymond Dennis Neoh and/or Global Digital Creations Limited for
the giving of the counter-quarantees to CICG.

As Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh and Global Digital Creations Limited
are connected persons of the Company and the above-mentioned
counter-guarantees given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh and Global
Digital Creations Limited constitute connected transactions of the
Company.

The counter-guarantees given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh and
Global Digital Creations Limited have been provided by them for
the benefit of the Company on normal commercial terms (or better).
The guarantees given should therefore be exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under GEM Listing Rule 20.52(2).

Counter-guarantee given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh in respect
of a bank loan made to the Group

As stated on page 37 of this annual report. Mr. Raymond Dennis
Neoh and the Company have given counter guarantees to CICG
in favour of CICG for the repayment of all the debts incurred by
CICG for which CICG s liable under the guarantee given by it in
respect of the SCB Facilities. No security or consideration has been
given by or any member of the Group to Mr. Raymond Dennis
Neoh and the Company for the giving of the counter-guarantees
to CICG.

As Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh is a connected person of the
Company and the above-mentioned counter-guarantee given by
Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh constitute a connected transaction of
the Company.

The counter-guarantee given by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh has
been provided by him for the benefit of the Company on normal
commercial terms (or better). The guarantee given should therefore
be exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’” approval requirements under GEM Listing Rule
20.52(2).
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Exempt continuing connected transactions

The following exempt continuing connected transactions subsisted

during the year:

(a)

On 26 April 2002, GDC China Limited, an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a lease
agreement with Ms. Lau Fung Sim, the spouse of Mr.
Raymond Dennis Neoh, for the lease of a residential premise
as a Director quarter. The Group paid a monthly rental of
HK$28,000 to Ms. Lau Fung Sim for a period of two years

commencing from 7 May 2002.

The Group leased a staff quarter from Mr. Anthony Francis
Neoh for a term of one year commencing from 15 October
2001 at a monthly rental of HKS8,000. The lease agreement
was renewed on 2 October 2002 and 15 February 2004
with similar terms and the lease was extended to 15 October

2004.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have

reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed

that the above transactions have been entered into:

(1]

(2]

(3]

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

on normal commercial terms,; and

in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests

of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

As disclosed in notes 29(c] and (d) to the accounts, the following

transactions were entered into during the year:

58

(a)

On 12 August 2002, the Group entered into a sub-tenancy
agreement with Solutions Lab Pte. Ltd., a related company
of Cyber Prime Developments Limited, a shareholder of the
Company, for the sublease of an office premise in Singapore.
The Group paid a monthly rental of SS$1,000 for a period
of one year commencing from 1 September 2002. On 12
May 2003, the Group entered into a supplemental sub-
tenancy agreement with Solutions Lab Pte. Ltd. for the
sublease of a larger portion of the office premise in
Singapore at a monthly rental of S$4,800 commencing from
15 May 2003 to 31 December 2003.

This transaction does not fall within the definition of a
connected transaction because Cyber Prime Developments
Limited is neither a substantial shareholder nor a

management shareholder of the Company.

During the year, the Group paid approximately HKS 780,000
(2002: HKS328,000), for legal and professional services
rendered by O'Melveny and Myers LLF, a law firm in the
US. Mr. Stephen Scharf, an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, is a partner of O'Melveny and
Myers LLP

This transaction falls within the definition of a connected
transaction but as the value of transaction falls below the
de-minimis threshold of the higher of (i) HKS$ 1,000,000 and
(if) 0.03% of the net tangible assets of the Group, the
transaction was exempt from all reporting, announcement
and shareholders” approval requirements in accordance with
GEM Listing Rule 20.23.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

Forward Strategic Investments Limited, a shareholder of the

Company interested in approximately 7.8% of the share capital,
held approximately 21.4% equity interest in DCDC Limited
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which in turn held 100%
equity interest in Digital Content Development Corporation Limited
("DCDC"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong, which is
principally engaged in CG production in Hong Kong. GDC and its
shareholders do not participate in the management of DCDC. The
board of GDC comprising Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, Mr. Anthony
Francis Neoh and Dr. David Deng Wei who are Directors and
initial management shareholders, has confirmed that GDC will
remain a passive investor in DCDC and will not have a
representative in the board of DCDC. The Directors confirmed that
there has not been and will not be any transactions between the
Group and DCDC.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, the chief executive,
substantial shareholders or initial management shareholders of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective
associates, has an interest in any business, which competes or

may compete with the business of the Group.

INTEREST OF SPONSOR

As updated and notified by the Companys sponsor (the “Sponsor”),
Goldbond Capital (Asia) Limited, as at 31 December 2003, none
of the Sponsor itself, its directors, employees or associates (as
defined in Note 3 to GEM Listing Rule 6.35) had any interests in

the securities of the Company.

Pursuant to the agreement dated 23 July 2003 entered into
between the Company and the Sponsor, the Sponsor is entitled to
receive an advisory fee for acting as the Companys retained sponsor

for the period from 4 August 2003 to 31 December 2005.

Report of the Directors % & 3§ & EHELDINGS
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2003, so far as is known to the Directors, the

beneficial interests (including interests and short positions in the
shares of the Company, underlying Shares and debentures) of the
Directors in the shares or securities of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance Cap. 571 ("SFO”)) which required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short position which they are taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), or required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to in that
Section, or required pursuant to Rules 5.40 to 5.59 of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors, to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

EERFETHRAEERND - HEAR
DHEFF2BEEZHNAXE

R_EBE=F+_A=+—H BEEMA
A BERAQARREMERER (REEE
PlsEs7 128 m REEGKN (TESF PR K
Bl F+RM2EE) 2RO XEST - HA
BEEFRPEGOETREE 7R EBM
AMEARR MRz ExntEn (BRER
ApaB - BEBRD RESF 2 Ea kX
B EREZFFEFLBEGRIGXMEE
FHRAEIWEREB 2 ERRKXR) - HRE
&5 R HE G E 35206 M B AZ G
Bifl  RBAIFR EHRAES 40KE
FESVRARESETELSR G ZHATEAA
SARBRB RNz BEanEs (BERD - A
A RESF 2 Em MORR) AT ¢

7l

Long positions in Shares R B
Number of Approximate percentage
Name of Directors Shares Capacity of interest (%)
EENS B 8B 8 BEBANE D (%)
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh REHTE 124,974,230 Beneficial owner 16.02%
BEaSBEAA
Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh REWFE 275,137,713 Interest in controlled 35.27%
corporations (note 1)
REHIRA 2 (Hat 1)
Dr. David Deng Wei HrEL 20,779,090 Interest in controlled 2.67%
corporation and beneficiary
of a trust [note 2)
REHRFAzEER
ERXHEA (M2
Mr. Richard Yin FRELE 8,531,615  Beneficial owner and 1.09%
beneficiary of a trust [note 3)
BERBAARGREZEA (KE3)
Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung BB & 58 5t 4 200,000 Beneficiary of a trust (note 4) 0.03%
ERXAA (K4
Professor Japhet Sebastian Law & 3 4 2% 200,000 Beneficiary of a trust (note 5) 0.03%
ERXHEA (Kas)
Mr. Stephen Scharf Stephen Scharf%e % 200,000 Beneficiary of a trust (note 6) 0.03%
ERXHEA (Kats)

60



Notes:

The 214,122,516 of these Shares were held by Upflow Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands ("BVI")
with limited liability and wholly-owned by Mr. Raymond Dennis
Neoh. The balance of the 61,015,197 Shares were held by Forward
Strategic Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Global
Digital Creations Limited, which is in turn owned as to

approximately 32.4% by Upflow Holdings Limited.

The 20,579,090 of these Shares were held by Bright Oceans
Corporation (HK) Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability and owned as to 50% by Dr. David Deng Wei.
The balance of the 200,000 Shares were held in a trust account
opened in the name of Mr Adrian Mak Yau Kee in trust for Dr.

David Deng Wei.

The 8,331,615 of these Shares were held by Mr. Richard Yin directly.
The balance of the 200,000 shares were held in a trust account
opened in the name of Mr. Adrian Mak Yau Kee in trust for Mr.

Richard Yin.

The 200,000 Shares were held in a trust account opened in the
name of Mr. Adrian Mak Yau Kee in trust for Mr. Gordon Kwong

Che Keung.

The 200,000 Shares were held in trust account opened in the
name of Mr. Adrian Mak Yau Kee in trust for Professor Japhet

Sebastian Law.

The 200,000 Shares were held in a trust account opened in the

name of Mr Adrian Mak Yau Kee in trust for Mr. Stephen Scharf.
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Long positions in equity derivatives in, or in respect of, underlying

Shares
Number and Number of
Name of description of equity underlying
Directors derivatives (note /) Shares
BRASTETAZ#HE &
EEHA KRR (Hf iz 7) i 8 B
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh 32,201,692 options 32,201,692
granted under the
FS Scheme
REMEE RIRFSETEIR 2
32,201,69217 FE B4
Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh 4,818,450 options 4,818,450
granted under the FS Scheme
REHERE RIRFSETEIR 2
4,818,450 17 B 1
Mr. Richard Yin 5,387,778 options 5,387,778
granted under the FS Scheme
FRERE RIRFSETEIR L 2
5,387,77817 & B &
Notes:
7. On 20 March 2003, the shareholders of Forward Strategic 7
Investments Limited, have by written resolution, adopted a share
option scheme (the “FS Scheme”) also dated 20 March 2003,
wherein its board is entitled to grant options to grantees such that
they can purchase Shares from Forward Strategic Investments
Limited pursuant to the terms of the FS Scheme.
8. Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh has been granted options under the FS 8

fif it

Scheme, which when exercised by him, entitle him to subscribe

for a total of 32,201,692 Shares.
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BAGTETAKIHERGHERZHE

Approximate

percentage

Capacity of interest (%)

R B4

50 B2 (%)

Beneficial owner (note 8) 4.12%
ESHB A (HiEs)

Beneficial owner (note 9) 0.62%
ESHEBAHE9)

Beneficial owner (note 10) 0.69%

ESHBAMFEI0)
RZEET=ZF=ZA=+H ' Forward

Strategic Investments Limited A EHRZFE R
RN AE Mk rE st &) ([rsat 8l )) (AR fE =+ 3
ZHERA-ZTZ=F=A-1H) Bt
EXgARAARARDERE  f£AR
A TTRIEFSEN EME KA Forward Strategic

Investments Limited B B R A& {5 o

ZEBTERBFSHEERERE &
FZERER  FAEREA L
32,201,692 A ARG o



Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh has been granted options under the
FS Scheme, which when exercised by him, entitle him to subscribe

for a total of 4,818,450 Shares.

Mr. Richard Yin has been granted options under the FS Scheme,
which when exercised by him, entitle him to subscribe for a total

of 5,387,778 Shares.

Short Positions in equity derivatives in, or in respect of, underlying

Shares

Name of Director

EEHA

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh

G|

Note:

PR

E

Number and
description of
equity derivatives
RATETIREZ
B R

61,015,197 (note 11)

(Krati1)

Pursuant to the terms of the FS Scheme, the grantees may purchase
61,015,197 Shares according to its terms and conditions. As
Forward Strategic Investments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Global Digital Creations Limited, which is in turn owned as to
approximately 32.4% by Upflow Holdings Limited, which is wholly
owned by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, Global Digital Creations
Limited, Upflow Holdings Limited and Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh
are accordingly deemed to be interested in the short positions

taken by Forward Strategic Investments Limited.

EEEHE
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REHAEBBrSFHAERBRE - 217
ERBAER  RAERE
BRI -

& 454,818,450

BRAELEBBrAHEERERE BT

LB - REEREA 5387778
NN SV
HERNDAFHBEBZRATTETAXE
Approximate

Number of
underlying
Shares
&

B EE

61,015,197
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percentage of

Capacity interest (%)
EREN
514 B2 (%)
Interest in controlled 7.82%
corporation (note 11)
REH AR 2
e (Matin)
RIEFSET Bl 2 650 - AR AT IRIEZA 8

ZHERRGHEEE6015197K 2 A K
7 o BB M Forward Strategic Investments
Limited % Global Digital Creations Limited
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Limited8 B8 Upflow Holdings Limited (&
HRERBERAZ D) BA 32 4%
@ o H Digital
Limited * Upflow Holdings Limited & &
R EHEBRER

Investments LimitedfTH A BB RER o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2003, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any interests
and short positions in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.40 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTIONS
SOTAS Option

On 5 June, 2003, the Company granted a share option to Sotas
Limited which entitles Sotas Limited to acquire 8,331,615 Shares
from the Company within 36 months from the date of listing of

the Shares, at an aggregate exercise price of US$600,000.

No share option granted to Sotas Limited was exercised during

the year.
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Report of the Directors % & 3§ & HOELDINGS

Share Option Scheme BhREE

The Company by shareholders’ resolution passed at its Special RARBEERZZZ=FtATN\BEHZ
General Meeting held on 18 July 2003, has adopted a share option RERFIAG EBARRRER KO —7&
scheme (“Scheme”). The principal purpose of the Scheme is to BT E ([2ZetEl]) - Zt8lzFEBH
enable the Company to grant options to eligible participants as REARAAIMAERLEER L BERE -
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group. Details ERBREHASEELERMZRBLE®
of the Scheme are set out in note 25(g) to the accounts. BHZtE 2 HBEHRERE M 25(g)

As at 31 December 2003, no option has been granted or agreed ( Z_ET=FF+_A=1T—H HBEER
to be granted under the Scheme. BZAABREARAE /A FRE 2 BAE -
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INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2003, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following, not being a Director or chief executive of the Company,
have an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under

the provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long positions in Shares and in equity derivatives in, or in respect

of, underlying Shares

No. of Shares/

Name equity derivatives
=E BRG/ BRALTETASE
Sotas Limited 63,875,717
Morningside CyberVentures Holdings Limited 63,875,717
Verrall Limited 63,875,717
Mrs. Chan Tan Ching Fen 63,875,717
Upflow Holdings Limited 275,137,713
Forward Strategic Investments Limited 61,015,197
Global Digital Creations Limited 61,015,197
Cyber Prime Developments Limited 41,658,077
Billion On Development Limited 41,658.077

KLZERBR AT
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REEZRHMERIATHREZEDR
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BRORBEGTETAXBEARND SR ZHE

Approximate

percentage
Capacity of interest (%)
540 BEBAE D (%)
Beneficial owner (note 1) 8.19%
BERERA (K1)
Interest in a controlled 8.19%

corporation [(note 1)
REFIRR 2R (Hat))
Interest in controlled

corporation [note 1)
REGIRR 2R (Hat))
Founder of a trust (note 1)
EREZBIMA (B3 1)
Beneficial owner and interest

in controlled corporation

(notes 2 & 3)
ESHEAARZERRT

¥ (HaE2k3)
Beneficial owner (note 2)
ESBEAA (HE2)
Interest in controlled

corporation [note 2)
REFRR 2R (Hat2)
Interest in controlled

corporation [note 4)
REFRR 2R (Hat4)
Interest in controlled

corporation [note 4)
REFRR 2R (Hat4)

8.19%

8.19%

35.27%

7.82%

7.82%

5.34%

5.34%



No. of Shares/

Name equity derivatives
=L B/ RATETIAHAE
Festival Developments Limited 41,658,077
Kingsway China Holdings Limited 41,658,077
SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited 41,658,077
EETRIZERARRAA

World Developments Limited 41,658,077
Innovation Assets Limited 41,658,077
Kingsway International Holdings Limited 41,658,077
Mr. Choi Koon Shum, Jonathan 41,658,077
Ms. Kwan Wing Kum, Janice 41,658,077

Report of the Directors ZEE & R &

Approximate

percentage

Capacity of interest (%)
g0 REBAE D (%)
Interest in controlled 5.34%

corporation (note 4)

XEH Bz Es (T4

Interest in controlled 5.34%
corporation (note 4)

XEH Bz Es (T4

Interest in controlled 5.34%
corporation (note 4)

XEHNB s (FiT4)

Interest in controlled 5.34%
corporation (note 4)

XEHnE s (T4

Interest in controlled 5.34%
corporation (note 4)

XEHnE s (T4

Interest in controlled 5.34%
corporation (note 4)

XEHNE s (T4

Interest in controlled 5.34%
corporation (note 4)

XEHnE s (T4

Interest of spouse [note 4) 5.34%

AieB s (M4
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Notes:

The 55,544,102 Shares were held by Sotas Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI with limited liability and wholly owned by
Morningside CyberVentures Holdings Limited, which is in turn a
wholly owned subsidiary of Verrall Limited in its capacity as trustee
of a family trust established by Mrs. Chan Tan Ching Fen, who
was taken to be interested in the Shares disclosed herein in her
capacity as founder of the trust (as defined in the SFO) referred to
above upon the listing of the Shares on GEM. On 5 June 2003,
the Company granted a share option to Sotas Limited which entitles
Sotas Limited to subscribe for 8,331,615 Shares from the Company
within 36 months from the date of listing of the Shares on GEM at
an aggregate exercise price of US$600,000 (equivalent to
HKS4,680,000].

The 61,015,197 Shares were held by Forward Strategic Investments
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Global Digital Creations
Limited, which is in turn owned as to approximately 32.4% by
Upflow Holdings Limited which is wholly-owned by Mr. Raymond
Dennis Neoh.

The 214,122,516 Shares were held by Upflow Holdings Limited,
which is wholly owned by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh.

The 41,658,077 Shares were held by Cyber Prime Developments
Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability,
which is wholly-owned by Billion On Development Limited, which
is in turn wholly-owned by Festival Developments Limited, which
is in turn wholly-owned by Kingsway China Holdings Limited, which
is in turn wholly-owned by SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited,
which is held as to 74% of its total issued share capital by World
Developments Limited, which is in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Innovation Assets Limited, which is turn a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Kingsway International Holdings Limited, which is
held as to approximately 48% of its total issued share capital by Mr
Choi Koon Shum Jonathan (through himself and his controlled
corporations). Ms Kwan Wing Kum Janice is the spouse of Mr.
Choi Koon Shum Jonathan.

fif 7t

% 55,544,102/ A A Bk {7 B Sotas Limited
(—HARRBELZBESHMK I ARAA
K B Morningside CyberVentures Holdings
Limited® & 8 & - M Morningside
CyberVentures Holdings Limited8l i
Verrall Limited AR BE S X TR 2 Rk
ERIXEAGH2EEEL)FE - BRHAE
BIEHmEmR  REEZLLERLME
FZBWMA(EERES RPEGD) %K
EEHARAXHBREZROZER - K=
ZZET=ZF,AARAB - KR A MESotas
Limited®® i B A # - B {ESotas Limited B
BERMHPAER ETRBEE=1T@A
W ATRITEE BT 600,000k T (HEER
4,680,000% 70) BB 8,331, 61 5IRA D A AR

T/\ o

#Z 61,015,197 R AR B Global Digital
Creations LimitedZ & & Pf{ & 2 7] Forward
Strategic Investments Limited ¥ 8 + M
Global Digital Creations Limited8l /&
Upflow Holdings Limited (REH L £ 2 &
BEBEZRF) BEKI2 4%kt

% 214,122,516 &~ A K 15 B Upflow
Holdings Limited (AR EHEELEHH)
KA -

% 41,658,077~ B RX 15 B Cyber Prime
Developments Limited ¥ & * Cyber Prime
Developments Limited& — & 7 34 8 I 2
SFMERIzERAAKAXLTERER
RAIZEHE MALERERRAEH
Festival Developments Limited2 B # & -
M Festival Developments Limiteds M
Kingsway China Holdings Limited® & #
£ - MKingsway China Holdings Limited
AREEEmMERERLAZERE W
World Developments Limited#5 BJEE © &
TREBRRAZEMWEBITRARZ74%
World Developments Limitedf Innovation
Assets Limited® B # A -+ i1 Innovation
Assets LimitedBl £ Kingsway International
Holdings Limited® E# & + 1 Choi Koon
Shum Jonathanst & (EBEKRARZ HE
# A8 ) #F B Kingsway International
Holdings LimitedZ & ¥ B %17 R A 4
48% > Kwan Wing Kum Janice’)N 88 & Choi
Koon Shum Jonathanst 4 2 B2 18 °



Short Positions in Shares and equity derivatives in, or in respect of,

underlying Shares

Name

=1

Forward Strategic Investments Limited

Global Digital Creations Limited

Upflow Holdings Limited

Note:

Number and
description of
equity derivatives
BRASTETIREZ
2B R

61,015,197 (note 5)

(Kt 7£5)

61,015,197 (note 5)

(Kt75)

61,015,197 (note 5)

(Kt75)

Pursuant to the terms of the FS Scheme, the grantees may purchase
the 61,015,197 Shares according to its terms and conditions. As
Forward Strategic Investments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Global Digital Creations Limited, which is in turn owned as to
approximately 32.4% by Upflow Holdings Limited, which is wholly
owned by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, Global Digital Creations
Limited, Upflow Holdings Limited and Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh
are accordingly deemed to be interested in the short positions

taken by Forward Strategic Investments Limited.
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BRORBEGTETAXBEARND SR ZAKE

Number of
underlying
Shares

L
B BE

61,015,197

61,015,197

61,015,197
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Approximate

percentage of

Capacity interest (%)
RRBL

8 B2 (%)
Beneifical owner [note 5) 7.82%
ERBEAA (MiE5)
Interest in controlled

corporation (note 5) 7.82%
REG AR 2w (K5
Interest in controlled

corporation (note 5) 7.82%
REG AR 2w (K5
RIEFSEt &l 2 RN - AR AR REZ T3

2GR GHBEZZ61,015 197K AR
B& 3 o AR Forward Strategic Investments
Limited % Global Digital Creations Limited
Z2EMEB QA - MGlobal
Creations Limitedfl BUpflow Holdings
Limited REHREEZ2ERBZRA)HEAR
#32.4%% = - Wt - Global

Digital

Digital
Creations Limited * Upflow Holdings
Limited & 2 & % % 4 # &R E R Forward

Strategic Investments LimitedFTF A B A

i
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OTHER INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE
SFO

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Directors” and chief
executive’s interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures” and “Interests discloseable under the SFO
and substantial shareholders” above, so far as is known to the
Directors, there is no other person who has an interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares of the Company that is

discloseable under the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No significant contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business

of the company were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to

the Group§ major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
— the largest customer 50%
— five largest customers 93%
Purchases
— the largest supplier 64%
— five largest suppliers 99%

None of the Directors, chief executive, substantial shareholders,
management shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or the associate (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of any of
them which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s share capital has an beneficial interest in any

one of the Groups$ top five customers and suppliers.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the

year.

BOARD PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES
The Company has complied with GEM Listing Rules 5.28 to 5.39

concerning board practices and procedures throughout the year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written
terms of reference based upon the guidelines recommended by
the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. The primary duties of the
audit committee are to review the Companys annual report and
accounts, half-yearly reports and quarterly reports and to provide
advice and comments thereon to the Board of Directors. Members
of the audit committee comprise Mr. Gordon Kwong Che Keung,
Professor Japhet Law, and Mr. Stephen Scharf, all of whom are
independent non-executive Directors. Two meetings of the audit

committee were held during the year ended 31 December 2003.

The annual report and accounts have been reviewed by the Audit

Committee at its meeting on 15 March 2004.

AUDITORS

The accounts have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who

retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Anthony Francis Neoh
Chairman

Hong Kong,
19 March 2004
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AUDITORS

REPORT

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GLOBAL DIGITAL CREATIONS HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the accounts on pages /4 to 141 which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in Hong Kong.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The Companys directors are responsible for the preparation of
accounts which give a true and fair view. In preparing accounts
which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that appropriate

accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on
our audit, on those accounts and to report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person

for the contents of this report.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. An
audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to
the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by
the directors in the preparation of the accounts, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of
the Company and the Group, consistently applied and adequately

disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance as to whether the accounts are free from material
misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information in the accounts. We

believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Auditors’ Report 1% 2 Bl 3§ & HEOLDINGS

Opinion =R

In our opinion the accounts give a true and fair view of the state AZBMRRE LR 2KRBERUNEERAT
of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December wER HEARE BEEER_ZTT=F+
2003 and of the loss and cash flows of the Group for the year AT BHEERZEBHRRL Kk BEX
then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with EHEEZZBLFE EAERBEERE - UK
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies REBRAKGIZEBERELSHESE -
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers BERKEETTMERAR

Certified Public Accountants E-E -]

Hong Kong, 19 March 2004 58 —_TTEWF=ATNA
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT | & & B & %
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003 HZE=-ZZ=F+-_A=+—-BLFE

2003 2002
—BRE=F —ET_F
Note HK$'000 HKS$'000
it & THERT FET
Turnover ERE 3 11,478 2,306
Cost of sales 5B B (8,428) (3,228)
Gross profit/(l0ss) ER(E8) 3,050 (922)
Other revenue H g A 3 156 22
Other operating income H i 42 & A 658 =
Administrative expenses THRAX (27,648 (11,644
Other operating expenses H A48 & 2 (4,261) (3,089)
Operating loss K EE 5 (28,045) (15,633
Finance costs B & B 6 (5,255) (1,796)
Loss before taxation B R A 18 (33,300) [17,429)
Taxation 1A 7 151 =
Loss for the year FEBRE 8 (33,149) (17,429)
HK cents HK cents
B Al 7 il

Loss per share BlEE I
Basic BN 4.63 2.64
Diluted %8 N/A &R N/A T 38 A
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I
bk

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET & B 8 & X

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2003 R-—ZEE=4+_-_HA=+—H
2003 2002
—ET=F —ET-F
Note HK$'000 HKS'000
B & FHE T FET
Non-current assets EMEEE
Fixed assets EE&E 12 35,984 28,160
Deferred tax assets RIERIBEE 15 151 =
.. 36135 28,160
Current assets mENEE
Inventories, at cost FE BN AE 16 3,564 =
Production work in progress ERIEE 17 75,666 43,564
Trade receivables JEUWE 5 B8R 3X 18 2,828 69
Prepayments, deposits and other BNFIE - ek
receivables ’rﬁjf’éﬂﬁlﬁﬁlﬁ 5,902 2,047
Amounts due from a related company JEH& R INETP/ O] 20 19 =
Bank balances and cash RITHEH AR S 21,889 8,089
109,868 53,769
Current liabilities mENEE
Training fees received in advance TEWIE I E A 2,255 1,122
Advances from a director KE—RESZEN 19 416 598
Advances from an officer RE—ZEHBERK 19 = 3,300
Advances from a shareholder KE—BREBK 19 = 12
Trade payables B8 SRR 18 2,566 =
Other payables and accrued charges Hi e BRIB R BT &R 19,001 8,441
Amounts due to a related company JE 7 — B3 A & 508 20 = 70
Loans from shareholders REBREER 21 = 7,900
Other loans HaEm 22 = 8,500
Current portion of long-term liabilities KRB BEZNEIH 23 21,497 12,838
45735 42,781
Net current assets MEEE T 64133 10,988
Total assets less current liabilities REERTBDERE 100,268 39,148
Financed by: B R :
Share capital g A 25 7,800 400
Reserves 1 26 60,642 5,027
Shareholders’ funds REES 68,442 5,427
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Loans from a shareholder KE—BRERER 21 11,536 11,746
Long-term liabilities RHEE 23 20,290 21,975
100,268 39,148

On behalf of the Board R XEE€

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh

Mr. Richard Yingneng Yin

Director Director
REELEE FREELE
E2 E2
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BALANTCE

SHEET

i
ik
v
i
et

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2003 R=-ZEZE=F+-A=+—H
Non-current assets EMEEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZEKE
Current assets mEEE
Prepayments, deposits and BRFIE - Eek
other receivables H b pE W BR 18
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNES
Current liabilities mEEE
Other payables and accrued charges Hin e RIBRETER
Net current assets/ liabilities) REBEE/ (AE)FHE
Total assets less current liabilities REERTEAE
Financed by: B R :
Share capital A& 7R
Reserves 1
Shareholders’ funds [ERE €

On behalf of the Board KX EE €

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh
Director

REMHERE

BEF

76

Note
o3

25

26

2003 2002
—EE=F 2T —F
HK$°000 HKS$'000
FTET FHT
86,408 8,659
541 =
10,839 =
11,380 =
581 3,232
10,799 (3,232)
97,207 5,427
7,800 400
89,407 5,027
97,207 5,427

Mr. Richard Yingneng Yin

Director
FREELE
3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

w A e

K

2B %

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003

Equity as at 1 January

Exchange differences arising on
translation of the accounts of foreign
subsidiaries not recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account

Loss for the year

Issue of shares to pre-listing investors

Issue of shares by placing and

public offer

Share issuance costs

Equity as at 31 December

«H

FE=F+-A=t+—ALF

@B EBIINHBLRERE

FREEMIE RN 4 & Ei

RAERZERLEZRE

FEER

[ EMAIRE & HITRD

B BT

RT-A=t—Bz#za

Note
o3

26

26

25, 26

25, 26

26

2003 2002
—EE=F 2T -F
HK$°000 HKS$ 000
FTET FH T
5,427 27,278
- 43
(33,149) (17,429)
40,200 -
66,300 -
(10,3306) (4,465)
68,442 5,427
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= A > =
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT | % &8 B € A & &
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2003 EZZ=F+_HA=1t—BLHFE
2003 2002
—ERE=F —EE_F
Note HK$°000 HKS'000
Kt &t FER FET
Cash flows from operating activities REEHZRERE
Cash used in operations KEmARS 27(a (50,090) (30,384)
Interest paid [ERNRAESS (4,511) (120)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEBFAFES (54,601) (30,504
Cash flows from investing activities RERH RENRE
Purchase of fixed assets BEETEE (10,671) (10,085)
Sale of fixed assets HEBTEEE 976 =
Interest received A E 156 22
Net cash used in investing activities KRETBFATFES (9,539) (10,063
Cash flows from financing activities BETHCREMNE 27(b)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to e — R N RIFRIE
a related company CRl4) /1 hn (70) 23,414
Issue of shares by placing and FREERAARE
public offer BIRG 66,300 =
[ssue of shares to pre-listing investors A ETRIREEZETRG 40,200 =
Share issuance costs P A7 B AT K R (10,336) (1,233)
Increase in loans from shareholders & B & R 1,025 1,674
Drawdown of long-term bank loans EREHARITER 14,143 14,143
Redemption of convertible note EEIE (7,800) =
Repayment of loans from shareholders BEBRRER (9,135) =
Drawdown of other loans REHE i & 5K 2,000 =
Repayment of other loans EREMER (10,500 =
New finance lease obligations B A E AR 1,218 13,960
Capital element of finance MEMEENFKZ
lease payments BRI M (7,775) (3,585)
Interest element of finance lease MEMEENTZ
payments 2 E A (1,330) (828)
Net cash from financing activities METHOFRELMA 77,940 47,545
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ IMNETE R &8 2 & = 43
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3£ & &I & SEY 2 & INFHE 13,800 7,021
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BZHRE&ERREZEY 8,089 1,068
Cash and cash equivalents at RTZHA=1t—BzHRe&k
31 December ReEEY 21,889 8,089
Analysis of balances of cash and RekAeFEDZ
cash equivalents REERD T
Bank balances and cash RITAEBRKER® 21,889 8,089
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NOTES TO

THE

ACCOUNTS Rk B M =

GROUP REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 9 October
2002 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. Pursuant to a group
reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”), which was completed
on 31 December 2002, to rationalise the structure of the
Group in preparation for the listing of the shares on the
Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company
became the holding company of the subsidiaries, details of
which are set out in note 13 to the accounts. The shares of

the Company were listed on GEM on 4 August 2003.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation

of these accounts are set out below:

(a) Basis of preparation of the accounts

The accounts have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and comply
with accounting standards issued by the Hong Kong

Society of Accountants.

SEEA

AARRZEE_F+ANAREER
E-—AN—FRAREFEMK A —BE
HBEBERDA - BE-—EHREHLALDQA
BROREBHEXHHNARDA ([HR
FTl)BIZEMR (TRIFEMR]) EmmETNE
BEACERBzEEEAE ([E4]) ' B
RZZEZZF+ZA=1+—HZEK ' &2
AR REAKAEEEHMBRR 2 ZERA
Al BEZEMNBARZFRBERANAE
REMWE I3 ARARIKROBERZZTE=
FNAMEBERIERE -

TESHEE

RFEEZERERREMAZEZSFEHCR
AR

(a) MARBEZEE
AERDIRBEEAEEERMNZES
RANKERBEEGAMAGRMZ
S EMBRELRAEPIRE -
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

80

(b) Group accounting

(i)

Basis of consolidation

The Group resulting from the Reorganisation
referred to in note 1 above, is regarded as a
continuing entity. Accordingly, the consolidated
accounts has been prepared on the merger basis
as if the Company had been the holding company
of those companies comprising the Group following
the Reorganisation throughout the two years ended
31 December 2003 and 2002, or from their
respective dates of incorporation to 31 December
2003, where this is a shorter period. In the opinion
of the Directors, the consolidated accounts prepared
on the above basis present more fairly the results,
cash flows and state of affairs of the Group as a

whole.

The consolidated accounts include the accounts of

the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31

December on the basis set out above.

Subsidiaries are those entities in which the
Company, directly or indirectly, controls more than
one half of the voting power; has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies, to
appoint or remove the majority of the members of
the board of directors, or to cast majority of votes

at the meetings of the board of directors.

All significant intercompany transactions and
balances between group companies are eliminated

on consolidation.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Group accounting (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

In the Company’s balance sheet the investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less provision for
impairment losses. The results of a subsidiary are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of

dividends received and receivable.

Jointly controlled operation

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement
whereby the Group and other parties undertake
an economic activity which is subject to joint control
and none of the participating parties has unilateral

control over the economic activity.

The assets that the Group controls and liabilities
that it incurs in relation to a jointly controlled
operation joint venture are recognised in the
balance sheet on an accrual basis and classified
according to the nature of the item. The expenses
that the Group incurs and its share of income that
it earns from services rendered by this joint venture

are included in the profit and loss account.

(c) Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at

exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary

assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies at

the balance sheet date are translated at rates of exchange

ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences

arising in these cases are dealt with in the profit and

loss account.
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2

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d])

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The balance sheets of subsidiaries and a jointly controlled
operation joint venture expressed in foreign currencies
are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date whilst the profit and loss accounts
are translated at average exchange rates. Exchange

differences are dealt with as a movement in reserves.

Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred
on development projects relating to the design and
testing of new or improved products are recognised as
an intangible asset where the technical feasibility and
intention of completing the product under development
has been demonstrated and the resources are available
to do so, costs are identifiable and there is an ability to
sell or use the asset that will generate probable future
economic benefits. Such development costs are
recognised as an asset and amortised on a straight-line
basis over a period of not more than 5 years to reflect

the pattern in which the related economic benefits are

recognised.

Development costs that do not meet the above criteria
are expensed as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset
in a subsequent period. Where an indication of
impairment exists, the carrying amount of any
development costs previously recognised as assets is
assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable

amount.
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2

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Fixed assets and depreciation

Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. No depreciation is
provided in respect of construction in progress until
completion. Depreciation of other fixed assets is provided
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less accumulated
impairment losses over their estimated useful lives on
straight-line basis. The estimated lives of fixed assets are

summarised as follows:

Leasehold improvements over lease term

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Digital film encoders and servers 10 years
Motor venhicles 5 years

Major costs incurred in restoring fixed assets to their
normal working condition to allow continued use of the
overall assets are capitalised and depreciated over their

expected useful lives to the Group.

The gain or loss on disposal of a fixed asset is determined
as the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is

recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

At each balance sheet date, both internal and external
sources of information are considered to assess whether
there is any indication that assets are impaired. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
fixed asset is estimated and where relevant an impairment
loss is recognised to reduce the fixed asset to its
recoverable amount. Such impairment losses are

recognised in the profit and loss account.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

84

()

Assets under leases

(i)

(i)

Finance leases

Leases of fixed assets where the Group has
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. Finance lease is
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower
of the fair value of the leased assets or the present
value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate
on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in non-current liabilities. The
finance charges are charged to the profit and loss

account over the period of lease.

The fixed assets acquired under finance leases are
included in the balance sheet according to their
nature, and where applicable, are depreciated in
accordance with the Group’s depreciation policies

as set out in note (2)(e) above.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of assets remain with the leasing
company are accounted for as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to
the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis

over the period of lease.
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2

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

(a)

(h)

Assets under leases (Continued)

(i) Operating leases (Continued)
Assets leased out under operating leases are
included in fixed assets in the consolidated balance
sheet. They are depreciated over their expected
useful lives on a basis consistent with similar owned
fixed assets. Rental income (net of any incentives
given to lessees) is recognised in accordance with
the Groups revenue recognition policies as set out

in note (2)(o)(iv) below.

Film costs and films under production

Films under production is stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. Cost comprises direct production
costs, consultancy fees, payment for intellectual property
rights and appropriate proportion of production
overheads which are allocated on the basis of floor areas
occupied by the production unit, proportion of time of
production facilities utilised or other systematic allocation

methods where the Directors consider appropriate.

Production costs are transferred to film costs upon
completion. Film costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Film costs less
accumulated impairment losses are amortised based on
the ratio of the actual gross revenues of the current year
to the estimated remaining total gross revenues from all

sources on an individual production basis.

Inventories

Inventories comprise raw materials and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is determined on the basis of anticipated

sales proceeds less estimated selling expenses.

2
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2

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

)}

(k)

(U]

Accounts receivable

Provision is made against accounts receivable to the
extent they are considered to be doubtful. Accounts
receivable in the balance sheet are stated net of such

provision.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks, cash investments with a
maturity of three months or less from date of investment

and bank overdrafts.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount can be made. Where the Group expects a
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is
recognised as a separate asset but only when the

reimbursement is virtually certain.

Employee benefits
(i Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long-service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the

balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity

leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(U]

Employee benefits (Continued)
(i) Pension obligations

The Group maintains various retirement schemes
which are available to qualified employees. Monthly
contributions made by the Group are calculated
based on certain percentages of the applicable
payroll costs. Contributions are charged to the profit

and loss account as incurred.

(m) Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the accounts. Taxation rates enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date are used

to determine deferred taxation.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against

which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and a jointly
controlled operation joint venture, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n) Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

(o)

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Company. It can also be a present
obligation arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation

cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the accounts. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is

probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain events not wholly within the control of the

Company.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed
in the notes to the accounts when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an

asset is recognised.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenues on the following bases:

(i) Training fee income is recognised over the period
of the course. Unearned training fee income
received is recorded as training fees received in

advance.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(p)

i

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised on
the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership,
which generally coincides with the time when the
goods are delivered to customers and title has

passed.

Box office receipts are recognised when the digital

motion pictures are exhibited.

Rental income from equipment leasing is recognised

on a straight-line basis.

Franchise fees from digital cinemas for use of
equipment are recognised on an accrual basis in
accordance with the substance of the relevant

agreement.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis, taking into account the principal amounts

outstanding and the interest rates applicable.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the

production of films that necessary takes a substantial

period of time to get ready for sale are capitalised as

part of the production work in progress.

Guarantee fees paid in respect of the Group’s long-term

bank loans are amortised on a straight-line basis over

the term of bank loans.

All other borrowing costs, which included premium on

redemption of convertible note, are charged to the profit

and loss account in the period in which they are

incurred.
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2 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q) Segment reporting

90

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting, the Group has determined that business
segments are presented as the primary reporting format
and geographical segments as the secondary reporting

format.

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses. Segment
assets consist primarily of fixed assets, inventories,
production work in progress and operating cash.
Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and
exclude items such as taxation and certain corporate
borrowings. Capital expenditure comprises additions of

fixed assets.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, sales are
based on the country in which the customer is located.
Segment assets and capital expenditure are analysed

based on location of assets.

Inter-segment revenues and results are eliminated on

consolidation.
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REVENUES AND TURNOVER 3 WAREXES
The Group is principally engaged in computer graphics (“CG”) AEBTIENEERHER (EREKR])
creation and production, digital content distribution and ZEMEREME  BBARETRERR
exhibitions, and the provision of CG training courses. RUEBHBEGFIRE - REAFEAND
Revenues, net of business tax, recognised during the year are BRZWA(BNBREER) BT -
as follows:
2003 2002
—EE=H —EE_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
TERT FET
Turnover BEH
Training fees b= 2,577 2,052
Sales of goods HE S m 8,599 -
Box office receipts from distribution BTG ER
of digital motion pictures ZEHA 93 151
Rental income from equipment HEEHEZHES
leasing WA 137 55
Franchise fee from digital cinema BT RERRBMES
for use of equipment ZEFEE 72 48
11,478 2,306
Other revenue Hfth g A
Interest income B A 156 22
Total revenues B A 11,634 2,328
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Primary reporting format - business segments

The Group is organised into three main business segments
including CG creation and production, digital content
distribution and exhibitions, and the provision of CG training

courses.

Turnover
External
Inter-segment

Total turnover
Segment results

Other revenue
Unallocated costs

Operating loss
Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss for the year

Segment assets
Unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

Capital expenditure

Depreciation

Amortisation of loan
guarantee fee

EES
#5h

7 EE

B BRI B R
BA

ENGE
e
ERERER
2 B

Year ended 31 December 2003

FEEZRARX - XB D

AEENXRBEIEN /=810

BREE

MEGRAERRE BEATRTR
BRRAREHEKEGEIRE -

HE-ZS=-F+-A=1t-HLFE

Digital
content

CG creation  distribution CG

and and training
production  exhibitions courses Corporate  Eliminations Total

ERER HERE ERER
AEREE BITRRT  BIRE A Hp At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TERT TET TERT TER
- 8,901 2,577 - - 11,478
- 2,025 - - (2,025) -
- 10,926 2,577 - (2,025) 11,478
(6,408 (8,824) (4,078) (19,310)
156
(8,891)
(28,045)
(5,255)
(33,300)
151
(33,149)
101,569 13,125 6,021 120,715
25,288
146,003
5,741 4,377 4,673 14,791
62,770
77,561
12,130 3,427 1,409 893 - 17,859
5,706 1,829 1,804 378 - 9,717
186 - - 557 - 743
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4 DWER (E)
Primary reporting format — business segments FE2HFRX - £H 2B (&)
(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2002
BE-_ST_F+-_A=+—-HIEE

Digital
content
CG creation  distribution CG
and and training
production exhibitions courses Corporate  Eliminations Total
BHELR EBERR ERER
EEREE EARER  BIIRE A bl &t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TAT TAET TAT TAT TAT TAT
Turnover EEE
External 4 - 254 2,052 - - 2,306
Inter-segment 7 B - - - - - -
Total turnover BEEE = 254 2,052 = = 2,306
Segment results DEEE (3.515) (8,285) (1,189) (12,989
Other revenue Hip A 22
Unallocated costs AABAA (2,666
Operating loss R (15,633
Finance costs BMEKAK (1,796
Loss for the year FEEBB (17,429
Segment assets DHEE 62,859 4,645 5,658 73,162
Unallocated assets APEEE 8,767
Total assets BEE 81,929
Segment liabilities AHERE 2,088 501 1,551 4,140
Unallocated liabilities ADEEE 72,362
Total liabilities BafE 76,502
Capital expenditure BARHAX 5,437 4338 176 134 = 10,085
Depreciation e 4242 893 1,524 126 = 6,785
Amortisation of loan ERERER
quarantee fee P& 3 71 - - - - 71
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

4 DEER (&)

Secondary reporting format - geographical

segments

The Group’s three business segments operate in four main

geographical areas, namely Hong Kong, China mainland, India

REZHFX - HBEDH

AEEZ-—AXHEIBETEENELE
BE - BEE - PEARE - HEREM

and other regions (principally United States of America (the wE (FEREMNBZERE ([EEH])
“US”), Thailand and Taiwan). The head office of the Group RERRE) - NEB 2@ E R R
and the research and development centre are located in Hong RLBRREE  MEKBEGREEP LR

Kong. The Groups CG production centre and the CG training

facilities are located in China mainland. Customers of the

E I B 5 55 9 ARk U R P B KB o A
SEREBEATBRTRRRIEBZEFPE

Group’ digital content distribution and exhibitions business o B Kke - ENE R Hthith= -

are located in China mainland, India and other regions.

Hong Kong

China mainland

India

Other regions (principally
the US, Thailand and

Taiwan)

Other revenue

Unallocated costs

Operating loss

Unallocated assets

Total assets

B

B KB

0E

HibirE (EBR
XH - RER

H WA
R B

REER

%.|.
P
=
e

o
e

[

Year ended 31 December 2003
BE_ZZ=F+-A=+—HLEFE

Segment Segment Capital
Turnover results assets expenditure
EEE TEBEE THMEE BEARRX
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEx FHEx TR
- (2,586) 48,129 4,083
2,814 (7,979) 67,321 13,691
7,100 (7,492) 1,485 -
1,564 (1,253) 3,780 85
11,478 17,859
156
(8,891)
(28,045)
25,288
146,003
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4

>

Secondary reporting format - geographical

segments (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2002
BE-_ZEE_F+_-_A=1+—BIEE

Segment Segment Capital
Turnover results assets expenditure
X Pol D EbE E N
EX D BB R AR D ER A E & A B X
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FET FET FET FET
Hong Kong B8 - (8,292) 27,254 2,049
China mainland K 2,306 (4,697) 45,908 8,036
India HE - - - -
Other regions (principally Hi @ (F2 R
the US, Thailand and B - FE R
Taiwan) =N | - - - B
2,306 10,085
Other revenue H g A 22
Unallocated costs R 7 B (2,666)
Operating loss KL R (15,633)
Unallocated assets AAOBEE 8,767

Total assets wEE 81,929
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KEEE

5 OPERATING LOSS 5
Operating loss is stated after crediting KEEBEBEET ARMK
and charging the following: TR IEETIER -

Crediting A

Gain on disposal of fixed assets HERBTEEE 2 W=

Charging &

Auditors’ remuneration 1% 25 A B &

Cost of inventories sold HERFE KA

Depreciation (note a) & (Hita)

Exchange loss, net BE N B 1EEE

Loss on disposal of fixed assets HEEEEEEIE

Operating lease rental expense for T REFIREHEE
land and buildings (note b) e (Mztb)

Research and development costs it 9% Ko A 2 A AR
(note ¢/ (HtiEc)

Staff costs (note c)

96

BT RA (ffatc)

2003 2002
—EE=F —EE-F
HK$°000 HKS$'000
FTET FH T
658 =
1,035 122
3,648 =
4,013 2,701
73 68
3,550 1,075
2,845 2,232
10,781 5,361




5 OPERATING LOSS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)  Depreciation
— leased assets

— owned assets

Less: Amounts included in

production work in progress

(b)  Operating lease rentals on land
and buildings
Less: Amounts included in

production work in progress

(c)  Staff costs (including Directors” emoluments)
— wages and salaries
— other allowances and benefits

— retirement benefit costs (note 24)

Less: Amounts included in production work
in progress
Amounts included in research and

development costs

Financial Statements 81 7 % % s

KeEBR (F)

HiaE -
2003 2002
—EE=F —EE-F
HK$'000 HKS$ 000
FHET F& T
a) WE
-HEXE 6,820 4,031
-BEXE 2,897 2,754
9,717 6,785
o RTAEREBER
2B (5,704) (4,084
4,013 2,701
(b) THREFZEE
HERS 4,708 2,310
o RTAEREBER
2B (1,158) (1,235)
3,550 1,075
() BIRA(BREEHS)
-~ IE&kF® 28,496 21,356
— H M E B R AR T 1,824 1,992
—RIKBRIB A (B 7F24) 1,101 780
31,421 24,128
o RTAERBER
2B (17,795) (16,535
T AR R BB AR
2B (2,845) (2,232)
10,781 5,361
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6 FINANCE COSTS

Interest expenses on

— finance leases

— bank loans (wholly repayable within

five years)

98

— bank overdrafts

— other loans (wholly repayable within
five years)

— loans from shareholders

— advances from an officer (note 19)

— convertible note

Premium on redemption of

convertible note

Amortisation of loan guarantee fee

Total finance costs incurred

Less: Amounts capitalised in production
work in progress
— interest expenses

— other borrowing costs

Total borrowing costs capitalised

Finance costs charged to consolidated

profit and loss account

2003 2002
—EBR=F —TT_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FER FET
THEEZFEXH
—RERE 1,330 828
—HITER(ERAFER
2HER) 1,519 121
—RITEX 34 -
HER(ERAFA
2HER) 420 84
—REEX 1,586 370
—RE—EEBRBEBR (M9 50 -
— AR RE 134 10
ok EE
2B - 312
ERRERERAZEE 743 71
EEEZBREKAE 5,816 1,796
W ERBEEERE
Z A
—MEXH (375) =
—HEMEERAR (186) =
BENLZ BEEKAN (561) -
EREBREANKZ
B & B 5,255 1,796
R—BEESRKIAEEZRIEZLER

The capitalisation rate applied to funds borrowed generally

and used for the production of films is 0.5% per month (2002:

Nil).

{ERRAEFROS%(ZEE

_FH‘
A
o



TAXATION

No Hong Kong profits tax was provided for the year as the
Group had no estimated assessable profit arising in or deriving
from Hong Kong (2002: Nil). Taxation on overseas profits has
been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the

year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in

which the Group operates.

The subsidiary of the Company operating in China mainland

has been granted tax exemption from income tax for two
years, starting from the first year of profitable operations after

setting off accumulated losses brought forward, followed by

a 50% reduction in income tax for the next three years. The

subsidiary is still under tax holiday during the year.

The amount of taxation credited to the consolidated profit

and loss account represents:

BVEA R R

Current taxation

Deferred taxation relating to the origination i i & 78 2 52 & b5 = 58

and reversal of temporary differences WES RE[E
(note 15) (BtiE15)
Taxation credit HIBHR

Financial Statements 81 7% % &
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AEEYEKELREEE b ER
Bamd - MBERAFRZEBMNER
REEH (CEZT-F : 8) - BINET
IR TY 4% K F 8 2 ff 5t 8 R B i ) AR TR
AEEREXEGRERK 2 RTHR KRG
g o

ARBERERELE 2B R ARIE
HAMRABEBRE AREXHEEE
MERRFTMFEAARRHANTEH -
BER=FRIAERFHENAEH - KR
FEA WMBRARDNUZAHRBESR
8 -

AARERERAZHBESBEOT

2003 2002
—EE=F —EE-F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FTET FH T
151 -

151 -

it
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TAXATION (Continued)

Bi1E ()

The taxation on the Group’s loss before taxation differs from

the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted

average taxation rate of the Group as follows:

Loss before taxation

Tax calculated at weighted average

tax rate of 17.71% (2002: 18.02%)

Income not subject to taxation

Expenses not deductible for taxation

purpose

Deferred tax benefits arising from tax

losses in subsidiaries not recognised

Expenses/(income) of subsidiaries in

China mainland under tax holiday

Temporary difference arising from
unrealised profit resulting from
intra-group transactions for which no

deferred taxation is recognised

Taxation credit

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

B TR0 & 1R

AEEGBAER B EZRANEEN
BIOBRERAEMBZERNBLIER
mE

BI771%(ZFF ZF : 18.02%)

IHEF BB R E 2 BR

BEARD Z WA

SLETEBIAM S A M2 5 X

REERZ KB A RHRIBEE
B 4 2 BT A A 28

FEERBZREKE
MEBARZAS, (KA)

SEARFARRZM
EERE TR A
Sl AR HERELH A
ZHERERE

MIRE %

100

2003 2002
—EE=F —EE-F
HK$°000 HKS$'000
FTET FH T
(33,300) (17,429)
(5,897) (3,140
(24) (41)
2,554 2,108
1,458 70
358 (294)
1,400 1,297
(151) -

AEEEBE

The loss for the year is dealt with in the accounts of the

Company to the extent of HKS4,384,000 (2002: HKSNil).

HARNRAERBRAZAFEERA
4,384,000 T(ZEE_F : &

JL) °
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9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S 9 EERSAREEEZ#HE
EMOLUMENTS
(i) Details of emoluments paid and payable to the Directors il REAFEABNEENEEHE 2
during the year are as follows: HIBEWT

Year ended 31 December 2003
HE-ZE-E1-R=t-HLEE

Allowances
and benefits Retirement
in kind scheme
Fees Salaries [note ) contributions Total
EEREN B
#e e \/A(Wite HE LS CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER
Executive Directors: HiTES:
Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh DERLE - 1,200 336 12 1,548
Mr. Richard Yingneng Yin FRELE
[note ) (Kta) 150 600 = 3 753
150 1,800 336 15 2,301
Non-executive Directors: FHTES:
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh PEALE - - - - -
Mr. David Deng Wei (note b/ HEeLa (Kab) 225 = = = 225
225 . . . 225
Independent non-executive BT
Directors: B
Mr. Gordon Kwong Che BERLE
Keung (note b/ (Hiatb) 285 = = = 285
Professor Japhet Sebastian EXHYK
Law [note b) (Hiatb) 285 = = = 285
Mr. Stephen Scharf Stephen Scharf 4t 4
{note b) (Hiatb) 225 = = = 225
Dato Ibrahim Zain Dato Ibrahim Zain
{note ¢/ (Ko = = - - -
795 - - - 795
1,170 1,800 336 15 3,321
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9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9 EEKSAREEE2ME (B
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2002
BE-_ZT_F+_A=1+-BHItEE

Allowances

and bengfits Retirement

in kind scheme
Fees Salaries {note €] contributions Total

ZHREND R
ik e BN (Hite) I CHI
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
THEL THEL THEL THEL THEL

Executive Directors: HiTES:

Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh REBRE - 1,200 336 12 1,548
Dr. Chong Man Nang REMBL

[note d (Kta) - 1,560 299 12 1,871

- 2,760 635 24 3,419

Non-executive Director: FHTES:

Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh RERTE - - - - -
- 2,760 635 24 3,419

Notes: i &

(a) Appointed as non-executive Director on 15 April 2003 (a) RZZEZT=FHATHAEZEAR}IH
and redesignated as executive Director on 8 October TEE WR_ZEZE=FT+A/\BEE
2003. HMEERWITES -

(b) Appointed on 15 April 2003. (b) RZZTZE=FMNATHHAEZE-

(c) Appointed on 15 April 2003, resigned on 26 June 2003 () R-BE-FWA+RAEET H=
and reappointed on 18 January 2004. TE-a A+ AABL GR-F

TNE—A+TNBEFRET -

(d) Resigned on 31 December 2002. (d BERZZEZE-_F+-_A=+—HBHE-
(e]  The quarters provided to executive Directors are included e) AMBATEFREZBESHIERMS 2 —
as part of their emoluments. BOFABREHSA -
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9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S 9 EEkSANEEEZ2ME (8)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
The emoluments of the Directors fall into the following EEsHMEeNFTIREE :
bands:

Number of Directors

EEHH
2003 2002
—EE=H —EFE-F
Emolument bands: MetEE :
Nil to HKS 1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000% T 7 |
HKS$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017% JT % 2,000,000 JT 1 2
(i) The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest (i) RAFERN  AKRERLZS H M
in the Group during the year include two (2002: two) ATBERU (ZEEZZF : ML)
Directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis EE  REZHMEER EXR2IZ
presented above. The five individuals whose emoluments BRE DA - NEB AN &= 5 B
were the highest in the Group were as follows: ATZM&mT -
2003 2002
—EE=H —EFE-F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TERT FET
Directors = 2,301 3,419
Employees &8 5,319 2,346
7,620 5,765
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il

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S 9
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(i)

EERaREERE2#ME (B)

).

0 b KT (i) it - AE B E
BEEFHEEXNME ZFEW

Details of the emoluments paid by the Group to the (i)

remaining highest paid employees as mentioned in note

(i) above are as follows: T
2003 2002
—ET=F —EET-F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FE T FET
Salaries & 4,611 2,346
Bonus B4 390 =
Allowances and benefits in kind AR EMEF 294 -
Retirement scheme contributions RRET B K 24 =
5,319 2,346
The emoluments of the remaining highest paid HAZSFMERE M N FUT
employees fall into the following bands: SR E
Number of Individuals
AH
2003 2002
—ET=F —EET-F
Emolument bands: e iRE -
Nil to HKS 1,000,000 Z & 1,000,000/ T - 3

HKS 1,000,001 to HKS 1,500,000
HKS 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HKS$2,000,001 to HKS$2,500,000

1,000,001 7T & 1,500,000 7T
1,500,001 JT & 2,000,000 7T
2,000,001/ 7T & 2,500,000 7T




9

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(iv] During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the
Group to the Directors or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office (2002: Nil). No
Directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year (2002: Nil).

10 DIVIDENDS

11

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2003 (2002: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2003 is
calculated based on the loss for the year of HKS33,149,000
and on the weighted average of 715,903,027 shares in issue
during the year.

The comparative basic loss per share for the year ended 31
December 2002 is calculated based on the loss for the year
of HKS$17,429,000 and on an aggregate of 660,100,011
shares, comprising 10,000,000 shares issued on 7 November
2002, 30,000,000 shares issued upon the Reorganisation and
620,100,011 shares issued pursuant to the capitalisation issue
for the then shareholders upon completion of the
Reorganisation, which were deemed to have been in issue

since 1 January 2002.

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2003
is not presented because there was no dilutive potential
ordinary shares in existence during the year. No diluted loss
per share was presented for the year ended 31 December

2002 as the convertible note was anti-dilutive.

Financial Statements §1 7% & #& &%ﬂs

9 EERELAEEE2ME (&)
(iv)] REEERN  AEBBESFER
e FAMESKANSESHEMA
+  EARREEMAREE S EA
MAREB %2 EE Sk E 5B B
1<_$~ Fm)  cNAREE
I EEENERR S RNERR
Eﬁ%ﬁ(:%%:i:ﬁ)o
10 RE
EEWARBRRHBE_ST=F+=
A=+—BItEEZEARE(ZES=
F:m) o
11 BREIE

HE ZT=F+_A=1+—RHIEE
LCERERANBBDAFEE BB
33,149,0008 T RIENANFERND #ET
715,903,0278% B 2 2 hn #& F 35 B A
%ﬁ o

HE " ZT €+ _-_A=1+—RHIEE
ZALNBRERERAEEDNRZEEBE
17,429, 0008 T RHEEE T _F
—A—BURzZEETKRNHE G
660,100,01 IR ETE - ZERHE
510,000,000 =_TF_F+—Ht
BT 2% * 30,000,000/ £ E 4 %
BT ZRMGKX620,100,01 1REEAT

REBRBRERRRETERNCETM
BIT 2D °

AR AEEATEBETECEL AR &
TEZIBE-_TT=FF+_A=1—
AEFEZEREEERE AR TRk
ERARMEYE BUBZ2NBE—
EE_F+-_A=1T—"BLFEZER
BEER -

105



annual report 2003 F

12 FIXED ASSETS

Group

Cost
At T January 2003
Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2003
Accumulated depreciation

At T January 2003

Charge for the year

Disposals

At 31 December 2003

Net book value

At 31 December 2003

At 31 December 2002

ek LE SRR

2itheE

R-FZ=F-f—-H
AEETH]

e

ek LE SRR

REFE

ik LE SRR

RZEE-E+ZA=+-H

Net book value of leased assets BEBE 2 REF(E

At 31 December 2003

At 31 December 2002

106

ik LE SRR

RZEE-E+ZA=+-H

12 BEEE

AEME
Furniture, Digital film
fixtures encoders
Leasehold and  Computer and Motor Construction

improvements  equipment  equipment servers vehicles in progress Total

B HESY

il kB REALR ERIE

NERE kR EhRE YREBZA hE A At
HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
ThT Thr Thn Thr T ThT TET
16,170 193 19,473 1,914 321 = 38,671
739 274 11,461 = 701 4,684 17,859
= = (400) = = = (400)
16,909 1,067 30,534 1,914 1,022 4,684 56,130
2,621 229 1,421 127 107 = 10,511
1,568 167 1,677 192 93 = 9,717
- - (62) - - - (62
4,215 396 15,016 319 200 = 20,146
12,694 671 15518 1,595 822 4,684 35,984
13,543 564 12,052 1,787 214 = 28,160
= = 10,239 = 150 = 10,389
= = 11416 = 214 = 11,630




12 FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

The aggregate cost and accumulated depreciation of fixed

assets held for use in operating leases as at 31 December

2003 are analysed as follows:

Group

Cost

Accumulated depreciation

Net book value

Depreciation charge of
fixed assets held for use
in operating leases

for the year

BN
Rt E

fRE R E

RAEEREA
B & EfF

ReHERE

ZHIEX

Financial Statements 81 7§ & & E%ﬂs

Computer equipment

12IE§F(@
R-BE=F+-"A=+—H #HE
TEEECERERR I BARARBE
WESTWT
rEH

Digital film encoders
and servers

HBELRBALR

1% 5-'/ BJD Hﬁi% ?\ WL
2003 2002 2003 2002
—EE=F —TT-_F CZETF=F _—_TIET_F
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FE T FET FE T FET
490 = 957 957
(134) = (160) (64)
356 = 797 893
112 = 96 64
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13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

108

Unlisted shares, at cost

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Amount due to a subsidiary

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-

LMK - BRAE
& Wi B /& 2 B R X
FE 5 — BB 2 B AR 3K

free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

The following is a list of subsidiaries at 31 December 2003:

Name

L

# GDC (BVI) Limited

GDC Holdings Limited

Place of

incorporation/

establishment
S/
Kt

British Virgin

Islands ("BVI'|

RABRZESE

BV

RAEBRZEE

Principal activities and

place of operation
TEEHR
BEXBbE

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
REBREALR

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
REBREALR

13 RMBRAZKRE

Company
EANYNS

2003 2002
—EE=H —EE_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FEx THET
9,892 9,892
76,516 =
- (1,233)
86,408 8,659

U FENB AR 2 RIBTYEER

RRABEEBETEERS -

LWTERZZE
BB A& E

Particulars of issued
share capital/

paid up capital

BRTRA/
BRERS 2R
2003
s 2
521,418,075 ordinary shares 100%
of US$0.01 each
521,418,075k
BREMHENOIZTZEER
521,418,075 ordinary shares 100%

of USS0.01 each
521,418,075
BREEIFTZLEER

P=Ft-A=t-AZ

Interest held
Fris s
2002

SLS

100%

100%



13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of

incorporation/

Name establishment
S/
£ R %

GDC Asset Management Y

Limited
ABRZEE
GDC Capital Limited Hong Kong
&k
GDC China Limited Hong Kong
REBELETE R
ARAF
GDC Entertainment BVI
Limited
REBRZESE

GDC Technology Limited BV

REBRLESE

Principal activities and
place of operation
IERBR
Bexgui

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
REBREALR

Dormant
o

B A
Investment holding

in Hong Kong
REBRALR

Animation investment,

licensing and merchandising

distribution in

a worldwide basis
REFETHERZ

BE BRRERDH

Provision of computing
solutions for digital
content distribution
and exhibitions in

a worldwide basis

RERAEBARETR

RTrREERERNR

Financial Statements 81 7§ & & E}%ﬂs

13 RIBL A2 RE (&)

Particulars of issued
share capital/

paid up capital
BRARE/
BHRRRHE

I ordinary share of USS1

IREEI XL ERBR

2 ordinary shares of HKS1 each
IREBREE BT EBR

2 ordinary shares of HKS1 each

IREREE BT ERR

3,510 ordinary shares of USS1 each

3510BRAEEIFT L ERR

I ordinary share of USS1

IREEIXTERBR

2003
—g3=%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Interest held

fi i
2002

SLS

100%

100%

100%
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13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name

L

GDC Technology Pe. Ltd

RRABEHRERE
(LB)ERAT
["IDMT Shanghai’|
(MR B R
(L&)

REEBEENEAL
(RINERAF
['IDMT Shenzhen’)
([RERH B R
(&Y1)

Place of
incorporation/

establishment
S/
KLt

Singapore

Bk

People’s Republic

of China [*PRC’)

PEARAANE
(ThEJ)

PRC

# Shares held directly by the Company

Principal activities and

place of operation
TEEHR
BEXBE

Provision of administrative
SErvices to group
companies in Singapore

RAFMEAEEAT
R TR

Provision of computer graphics

and animation training

in China mainland

RAEAERRHERBER

BERER

Provision of computer graphics

and animation training,

development of multimedia
software and hardware, and

provision of related technical

consultancy services in

China mainland

RAEARRAZERER

kBERMEE
RESRETENLR

REABRMEARS

13 RIBL A2 RE (&)

Particulars of issued

share capital/

paid up capital Interest held

BRARE/

BHRRRHE igsd £+

2003 2002

=S L

2 ordinary shares of SS$1 each 100% 100%

IREREE KT ERR

USS$ 140,000 100% =

140,000% T

US$2,000,000 100% 100%

2,000,000% 7T

# ARREEREAZED



14 JOINTLY CONTROLLED OPERATION 14
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H 5] 2 ) % 55

The Group has entered into a jointly controlled operation to
undertake a digital content distribution and exhibition contract.
At 31 December 2003, the aggregate amounts of assets,
turnover and results recognised in the accounts in relation to

the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled operation are as

follows:
Results e
Turnover, net of business tax & EE (B EED)
Box office receipts from distribution BTHBEY
of digital motion pictures FFEKA
Franchise fee from digital cinema W™ EAR
for use of equipment FEEZBF#EE
Cost of sales — depreciation HEKA-—TE
Group’s share of profit for the year REE RS2 FE T
Net assets EEFRE
Assets BE
Fixed assets — digital film TEE-—BBEEXRT
encoder and server ES WS e
Trade receivables & W B Z BRI

ARBEER L —EARERER - A
TEEARBRTRRREH -R_FF
=F+-A=1T—H RAKEAER
EAEERNAREHNEBPAEERZ
BE ZXBLREERBWMT

Group

REH
2003 2002
—E2E=F —EE_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
TERT FET
74 116
72 48
146 164
(96) (64)
50 100
798 894
50 50
848 944
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15 DEFERRED TAXATION

112

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences
under the liability method using rates of taxation prevailing in

the countries in which the Group operates.

The movement on the deferred tax assets account is as follows:

At 1 January w—H—H

Deferred taxation credited Bt AGZEBERANZ
to consolidated profit BRI
and loss account (note 7) (HtiE7)

At 31 December R+=—A=+—8

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry
forward and other deductible temporary difference to the
extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through the
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2003,
the Group has unrecognised tax losses of HKS7,634,000
(2002: HKS314,000) to carry forward against future taxable
income; these tax losses have no expiry date. In addition, the
Group has unrecognised temporary difference arising from
unrealised profit resulting from intra-group transactions of
HKS 19,794,000 (2002: HKS11,794,000). The Group did not
recognise the deferred tax assets for such deductible
temporary difference as the utilisation of the temporary

difference is uncertain.

15

iE 3E B 18

EERAIREABEIMEERZZA
SEEEXBAEBRRZBITHRER
#

o

il
W

EERBAEERBZEHMT ¢

Group

rEH
2003 2002
—EBR=F —TT_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
THERT FET
151 =
151 =

EEMEREEDHAENBEEERA
AR B G R E TARR - HANE
AU EEM AR EBRRRZERT &
FEBRZBEEAR R-ZTT=F+=
A=+—H AEEHEAAUEHERRK
ERBMBMAZEERERVEEER
7,634,000 7T (ZF T F : 314,000
BT REBEBEYEEREH o Ut
O AEBRETEEARARATBRSMm
HEARERBINMEEZABRRE L K
EBHI19,794,0008 T(Z T _F :
11,794,000/ 7T) o BK 828 R &R
EZRRTHA  WASEUERZEA
HBREERZERALEEREEE -
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15 DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 15 IEERIE (F)
The movement in deferred tax assets of the Group during the REERAFERNELEHIBEELZH
year is as follows: BRWAT :

Accelerated

tax depreciation Others Total

2 HENE Hith CEl
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
“2F=F _—TT-F C"BE-F _TIT-F C"TT=F _—TT_F

HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$"000
TER TAT TER TAT TER TAT

At 1 January R—A—H = = = - = =
Credited to consolidated B &t A&RA
profit and loss account BakRA 118 - 33 = 151 =
At 31 December RT-A=1-H 118 - 33 - 151 -
Group
rEH
2003 2002
—ERE=F —EE_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
TERT THET

The amount shown in the balance sheet BEABRAMHB 2R

includes the following: BETIIRE :
Deferred tax assets to be recovered BmEI2EABKE 2
after more than 12 months RIERIBEE 101 =

No deferred taxation was provided in the accounts of the RZZEZE=F+_HA=+—8 A&
Company as at 31 December 2003 (2002: Nil). BLERERARARE NIRERE (=
T_FF) -
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16 INVENTORIES, AT COST

Raw materials R #
Finished goods K m

17 PRODUCTION YWORK IN PROGRESS

114

Production costs incurred, at cost BEEEZBEMAR -

Production work in progress mainly represents production costs
incurred for the film titled Thru the Moebius Strip (the “Film”),
a movie project currently under production by the Group.
Having regard to the latest production status of the Film and
projected sales estimated by the GroupSs sales agents, the
Directors are of the opinion that the production costs incurred

as at 31 December 2003 are fully recoverable.

Interest in the Film was pledged as security to secure payments
to a third party for services rendered in connection with the

production of the Film.

16 78 BRAE

Group
KEE
2003 2002
—EE=F —EE-F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FE T FH& T
938 =
2,626 =
3,564 =
17 EH®IEB
Group
KEE
2003 2002
—EE=F —EE-F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FE T FH& T
AN E 75,666 43,564

ERHEEXFEERBEER [ Thru the
Moebius Strip] (T E&]) (K& BHIE
BUEs—MER) TEECBMERRE - £
ERZETROCEELEERAEER
DHREREY CME 2 HHKAEL
et BEBFRR RZTET=F+=
A=T—BRELX 28 ERKTEH
e o

EYEERERR  BURRE=EX
NHESEEZPRREE RS 2 ER -



18 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND TRADE PAYABLES

Aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Within three months
Three to six months

Over six months

According to the agreements entered into between the Group
and the digital cinemas, rental income and franchise fee are
settled on a quarterly basis. The majority of sales of goods
are on letter of credit against payment, the remaining amounts

are granted with credit terms of 60 days.

Aging analysis of trade payables is as follows:

Within three months

Three to six months

=EAR

=EXEA
NE A L

=EAR
=EXEA
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18 BRRESRAKRENES KRN

RUWE SRR ZREDTMT ¢

Group

REE
2003 2002
—BRE=F —TT_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
TERT THET
2,699 38
13 19
116 12
2,828 69

BEASEAHBE I L2 W& B
TWARENRBENEFREER - K%
BERBEEDUNEREAAXIN - MH
BREBZEEHROR -

RNEZERZKEDTMAT ¢

Group

rEH
2003 2002
—ERE=F —EE_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
TERT FET
2,170 =
396 =
2,566 =
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19

ADVANCES FROM A DIRECTOR/AN
OFFICER/A SHAREHOLDER

20

Advances from Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, a Director of the
Company, are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

Advances from Ms. Amelia Mak Lai Yu, company secretary of
the Company, were unsecured and interest-free. At the
discretion of the Directors, the Group paid interest to Ms.
Amelia Mak Lai Yu at a rate of prime plus 3% (note 6). The
advances were fully settled during the year.

Advances from Mr. Richard Yingneng Yin, a shareholder of
the Company who was appointed as the Director of the
Company during the year, were unsecured and interest-free.
The advances were fully settled during the year.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO A RELATED
COMPANY

116

Amounts due from/to a related company represent amounts
due from/to Global Digital Creations Limited, a former holding
company of the subsidiaries comprising the Group prior to
the Reorganisation. Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, Mr. Anthony
Francis Neoh, Mr Richard Yingneng Yin an Mr. David Deng
Wei, who are Directors of the Company, are the directors
and/or shareholders of Global Digital Creations Limited.

On 27 and 28 November 2002, amounts due to Global Digital
Creations Limited of HKS74,916,000 were applied to offset
against the novation of convertible note (note 23(b)) and
loans from shareholders (note 21) and other loans (note 22)
to GDC Holdings Limited and the remaining balance of
HKS40,644,000 as at 28 November 2002 was capitalised as
share capital of GDC Holdings Limited pursuant to the
Reorganisation (note 26(a)) which was deemed to be effected
prior to 1 January 2002 for the purpose of the preparation of
these accounts.

The amounts receivable and payable are unsecured, interest-
free and have no specific terms of repayment. The maximum
receivable amount outstanding during the year was
HKS$ 19,000 (2002: HKSNIl).

19 RE—RES /—HofBE/

—EREZBR

ARBEFEREHRREZERDER
e 2SEEBETERY -

ARARAIMEERB LT 2B RE
BEHRAERE - EFHRBERE  AKER
EBBL L XN EREBENEMI%E E
ZH B (HisEe) - %2 BRERAFE
NEHEE -

REAFERBEZREREFTZARAKRR
FRETCEMERZBRNDEARER
B ZERFORAFEATREE -

20 FEW FEY —BAE DRI

JEY e —BERAIRETEEK
FE& ¥ Global Digital Creations LimitedZ
RIE - ZARADREENEKEAEEE
MBARZAERAR - ARAERR
WAL RERRE FEELEER
B (& %t £ 39 B Global Digital Creations
LimitedZ? EE K /HBRX -

RZZEZE-_F+—-HAZTERAER=ZTAN
H ' FE fdGlobal Digital Creations
Limited X I8 & 874,916,000 7T E A A
1 $5 JAGDC Holdings Limited 2 ] # &
Z4& (FIEE23(b) ~ RERER (BFEE21)
REMER (ME22) ERBEBHRE - M
RZEZ_F+ A=+ \B2Z2#HE
40,644,000 7o BIAR 2 48 (MI&E 26(a))
il # 7 & AN fE & GDC Holdings Limited
ZBRA - BEEZERAMNS  BAK
BIER_ZZ-—F-—A-HABEKHE
2 o

FERREMNEREDEER 25 AE8R
BN o« RAFE A K E R E W
BERABIQWOABTL(ZEZE_F: T
BIL) °
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21 LOANS FROM SHAREHOLDERS/A 21 RERR/ —ERREXK
SHAREHOLDER
On 27 and 28 November 2002, the shareholders’ loans of RZEBEZE_F+—-—HZ+T+tBEZTN
HKS$ 17,972,000 were novated to the Group by Global Digital B REEHKEHRE - Global Digital
Creations Limited pursuant to deeds of novation. As at 31 Creations Limitedi#§ 17,972,000/ T i &
December 2003, loans from shareholders are as follows: EXETAEE R-_ZZT=F+=A

=+t—B REARRZEZRMT :

Group
rEE
2003 2002
—EE=H —EE_F
Note HK$°000 HKS'000
Kt &t TERT THET
Repayable within one year: BR—FRNEE :
Sotas Limited Sotas Limited (a) - 7,600
Mr. Richard Yingneng Yin FREREEE (b) - 300
- 7,900
Repayable later than one year: AR —FRER
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh RERBLE (c) 11,536 11,746
11,536 19,646
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21 LOANS FROM SHAREHOLDERS/A
SHAREHOLDER (Continued)

118

Notes:

(a)

(B)

The loans from Sotas Limited were unsecured. The loan of
HKS 1,600,000 bore interest at best lending rate as quoted by
the Standard Chartered Bank from time to time plus 3% per
annum and was repayable in full on 31 July 2001. The
remaining loan of HK$6,000,000 bore interest at a fixed rate of
10% per annum with an additional interest of 5% per annum
on any overdue principal and interest and was repayable in
full on 2 April 2002. The Group was obliged to grant a share
option to Sotas Limited for the purchase of new shares of the
Company should the Group failed to repay the loan and/or
accrued interest to Sotas Limited by 29 June 2002. Pursuant to
the relevant loan agreement and deed of novation entered
into with Sotas Limited, the Group granted a share option to
Sotas Limited on 5 June 2003 for the purchase of 504,870
shares of the Company at HKS0.01 each, representing
approximately 8,331,615 shares of the Company upon the
listing of the Companys shares on the GEM, at an aggregate
exercise price of US$S600,000 and with the option period of 36
months commencing from the date of the listing of the
Company’s shares on GEM (“Sotas Option”). The loans were
fully settled during the year ended 31 December 2003. No
share option under the Sotas Option was exercised during the

year ended 31 December 2003.

The loan from Mr. Richard Yingneng Yin was unsecured, bore
interest at best lending rate as quoted by the Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited from time to time plus
3% per annum and was repayable in full by 30 July 2002. The
loan was fully settled during the year ended 31 December

2003.

The loan from Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh is unsecured, bears
interest at best lending rate as quoted by the Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited from time to time plus
3% per annum and is not repayable within twelve months
from 31 December 2003.

21 RARR —ERREN (&)

ff it

(@)
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22 OTHER LOANS

On 27 and 28 November 2002, other loans of HKS8,500,000

were novated to the Group by Global Digital Creations Limited

pursuant to deeds of novation. As at 31 December 2003,

other loans are as follows:

Kingsway SW Finance Limited
Mr. William Ka Chung Lam

E-Talent Investments Limited

EEHEHERAR
MR AL

Notes:

The loan from Kingsway SW Finance Limited, a fellow subsidiary
of Cyber Prime Developments Limited, a shareholder of the
Company, was unsecured, bore interest at best lending rate as
quoted by the Standard Chartered Bank from time to time plus
3% per annum and was repayable in full on 14 May 2003. The
loan was fully settled during the year ended 31 December
2003.

The loan from Mr. William Ka Chung Lam, a beneficial owner
of Perfect Brilliant Limited, a shareholder of the Company, was
unsecured, bore interest at best lending rate as quoted by the
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited from
time to time plus 3% per annum and was repayable in full on
30 July 2002. The loan was fully settled during the year ended
31 December 2003.

E-Talent Investments Limited
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22 HiWE M
RZEZE-_F+—-HAZTERAER=ZTAN
B REEHKE#HRE - Global Digital
Creations Limitedi# £ ft & 58,500,000
BLTETASE BE_TT=-F+=
A=+—BZEMERNAT :

Group

rEH
2003 2002
—E2E=F —EE_F
Note HK$'000 HKS'000
it & THERT FET
(a) - 1,700
(b) - 1,000
(c) - 5,800
- 8,500

ff it

a) REEEMBAERAA (KA AKR
Cyber Prime Developments Limited Z [7l
AWEAR) 2ERTDEER - B
TROTTEARZEEBEERNEEGF
AM3%EtE - BAR_ZTE=FAH+
MEEEEE ZEERERBE-ZT
E=EF+ A=+ BLFERBEHE

R o

(b) KRB MK L E (KD AR’ R Perfect
Brilliant Limited 2 B = A A) 2 BERT
EER - TRESLEELSRTERA
ATKMBsREBEBERFNEGESM
3%xtE  BARZ-ZZE-_F+tA=+1+H
MEHER ZEEXREREBEE-ZZT
“HE+ A=t BLFERNBHE

R o
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22 OTHER LOANS (Continued)

120

()

Pursuant to an agreement between E-Talent Investments Limited
(“E-Talent”), an independent third party, and Kingsway SW
Finance Limited, Kingsway SW Finance Limited agreed to make
available to E-Talent a credit facility of HKS5,800,000 (the
“Kingsway Finance Facility”), which was used by E-Talent for
on-lending to Global Digital Creations Limited. Each of Mr.
Anthony Francis Neoh and Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh and the
ultimate beneficial owner of E-Talent has given an irrevocable
and unconditional personal guarantee in favour of Kingsway
SW Finance Limited for the repayment of the Kingsway Finance
Facility. The guarantee shall continue to be effective until seven

months after final payment has been made.

The loan bore interest at best lending rate as quoted by the
Standard Chartered Bank from time to time plus 3% per annum
and was repayable in full on 17 June 2003. The loan was fully

settled during the year ended 31 December 2003.

22
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E-Talent Al # #% £ & 3 H {& B T Global
Digital Creations Limited ° 2 & #8 %
£ REHREERETalentZ ZKRE =
BEEAERBEESNB 2 &M
EEHBERAARIEA - FEIREM
—IA AT R AR A AR R - 2R
EREZXN&E BT ELEA B
A —BEEXN -

ZEERBRBITROTIEABRZZER
b2

BHAEGESMI%TE  WEARZE
T=FRATLHEBEEE - ZZTER
ERBZE-_TT=F+-_RA=+—81t
FEABBEE o



23 LONG TERM LIABILITIES

Financial Statements 81 7§ & & E}%ﬂs

23 R EE

Group
REE
2003 2002
—EE=H —EE_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
TERT THET
Bank loans, secured [note a) RITER - BEAR (HFa) 28,286 14,143
Convertible note (note b) AmRERE () - 7,800
Obligations under finance leases (note c) mEMEEALE () 13,501 12,870
41,787 34,813
Current portion of long-term liabilities RBEE M (21,497) (12,838
20,290 21,975
Notes: i &t
(a) Asat 31 December 2003, the bank loans were repayable (a) RZE2EE=F+_-_A=+—8 " '4&
as follows: ATIEHEERZRITERAT
2003 2002
—EE=H —EE_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
TERT THET
Within one year —FR 14,143 =
In the second year FEF 14,143 14,143
28,286 14,143
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23 LONG TERM LIABILITIES (Continued)

122

On 31 October 2002, banking facilities of
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$28,286,000) have been obtained by IDMT Shenzhen
from Bank of China, Shenzhen branch (“BOC Facilities”).
The Group had drawndown RMBI5,000,000 on 31
October 2002. The BOC Facilities will be expired on 31
October 2004. The BOC Facilities are guaranteed by
Global Digital Creations Limited and 7 {5 B £ R B IR
A |] (“CICG"), an independent third party (the “CICG
Guarantee”). Global Digital Creations Limited and Mr.
Raymond Dennis Neoh have given counter-guarantees
in favour of CICG and GDC China Limited, a subsidiary
of the Company, has pledged its entire interest in the
registered capital of IDMT Shenzhen to CICG ("BOC Asset
Pledge”| for the repayment of all debts incurred by CICG
for which CICG is liable under the CICG Guarantee. The
guarantee given by Global Digital Creations Limited will
be effective till two years upon the expiry of the term of
the bank loan. The counter-guarantee given by Mr.
Raymond Dennis Neoh remains effective as at 31
December 2003. The counter-guarantee given by Global
Digital Creations Limited and the BOC Asset Pledge will
remain effective until IDMT Shenzhen has repaid all debts
under the BOC Facilities.

On 21 March 2003, another banking facilities of
RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HKS$28,286,000) have been obtained by IDMT Shenzhen
from Shenzhen Commercial Bank in Shenzhen (“SCB
Facilities”) and the Group has drawndown an amount
of RMB15,000,000 on the same date. The SCB Facilities
are guaranteed by CICG (the “SCB Guarantee”) and will
be expired on 21 March 2005. The guarantee given by
CICG shall be effective for three years after the expiry of
the SCB Facilities. The Company and Mr. Raymond Dennis

23 RAGE (FA)
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ZHBA R B BERE RIRIRETS
HRAER ORI 2 2 B M RA
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Limitedi2 t 2 BREERITERE
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TZA=T—RH  REBEEMRE
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23 LONG TERM LIABILITIES (Continued)

Neoh have given counter-guarantees to CICG and GDC
China Limited has pledged its entire interest in the
registered capital of IDMT Shenzhen (“SCB Asset Pledge”)
to CICG for the repayment of all the debts incurred by
CICG for which CICG is liable under the SCB Guarantee.
The counter-guarantees given by Mr. Raymond Dennis
Neoh and the Company and the SCB Asset Pledge
provided by GDC China Limited remain effective until
IDMT Shenzhen has repaid all the debts under the SCB
Facilities.

On 27 November 2002, GDC Holdings Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a deed of
novation with Global Digital Creations Limited and Middle
Asia Limited (“Middle Asia”) pursuant to which GDC
Holdings Limited agreed to take over all the rights, title,
interests, benefits, obligations and liabilities of Global
Digital Creations Limited under the convertible note
Note”)
(“Subscription Agreement”) entered into between Global

(“Convertible subscription agreement
Digital Creations Limited and Middle Asia. Pursuant to
the deed of novation, the Convertible Note of

HKS$7,800,000 was novated to GDC Holdings Limited.

The Convertible Note was unsecured, bore interest at
1.5% per annum and was convertible into fully-paid
ordinary shares of GDC Holdings Limited (or of the
Company) at HKS31.2 per share (subject to adjustments
as stipulated in the Subscription Agreement]. In the case
that the Company's shares are listed on the GEM, the
conversion of the Convertible Note is compulsory. On
28 March 2003, the Group redeemed the Convertible
Note at 104% of the outstanding principal with accrued

interest pursuant to the Subscription Agreement.
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23 LONG TERM LIABILITIES (Continued)

124

(c)

At 31 December 2003, the Groups finance lease liabilities

were payable as follows:

Within one year —FR

In the second year E_F

In the third to fifth year E-FERF

Current portion of obligations MEMEREZ
under finance leases ENER &S >

The reconciliation between the total minimum lease
payments and the present value of finance lease

obligations is as follows:

Total minimum lease payments BERATHBERZ
repayable: REBENKER :

Within one year —FR

In the second year E_F

In the third to fifth year BE=FEREF

Less: Future finance charges B BEEE ZRK

on finance leases MEEM

Present value of finance lease MEHEAELRE

obligations

23 RAGE (FA)
() RZET=F+=-A=+—-08 &
SEsRMEHERENT :

2003 2002
—EE=F —EE-F
HK$°000 HKS'000
FTET FH T
7.354 5,038
5,116 5,416
1,031 2,416
13,501 12,870
(7,354) (5,038
6,147 7,832

REHENRAEERERE&E

REZHEMOT

2003 2002
—EE=F —EE-F
HK$°000 HKS$'000
FTET FH T
8,217 6,033
5,380 5,891
1,057 2,492
14,654 14,416
(1,153) (1,546)
13,501 12,870




24 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees in Hong Kong
and Singapore. The assets of the schemes are held separately

from those of the Group in independently administered funds.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the government in the
PRC, the subsidiaries in China mainland participate in the
municipal government contribution scheme whereby the
subsidiaries are required to contribute to the scheme for the
retirement benefit of eligible employees. The municipal
government of the PRC is responsible for the entire benefit
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme is to pay

the ongoing contributions required by the scheme.

The retirement benefit costs represent gross contributions paid
and payable by the Group to the schemes operated in Hong
Kong, China mainland and Singapore (collectively the
“Retirement Schemes”). Contributions totalling HK$89,000
(2002: HKS73,000) payable to the Retirrment Schemes at 31
December 2003 are included in other payables and accrued
charges. There was no forfeited contribution throughout the

year (2002: Nil).

24
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25 SHARE CAPITAL

25 IR A

Authorised:

On incorporation at
9 October 2002

Increase in authorised ordinary

share capital

At 31 December 2003

Issued and fully paid:

Shares allotted on
7 November 2002
Shares allotted on 31
December 2002 for
acquisition of subsidiaries
pursuant to the

Reorganisation

At 31 December 2002

Issue of shares to
pre-listing investors

Issue of shares by placing
and public offer

Capitalisation issue

At 31 December 2003

126

ATE

Note
ft i
R-FZE_F1A
JU B R AR AL B (a)
EEEBRAZ
BilIE 2 ¢ ()

RZEE=F+_-_A=+—H

BEETRBR

R-ZZZ-_F+—-—A+tH

e 2% 2 B fn (b)
R-_FE_F+-H
=+—BREEA

U B B 8 2 )
i Bc % 2 B& 13
(d)

R-ZBEZE_F+_-_HA=+—H
M EHATIRE &

BT D (e)
BBRRERARES

BT D ()
B AR BT ()

Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each
BREECIBIZEER
Number of
shares HKS'000
e in 21 B THET
10,000,000 100
1,190,000,000 11,900
1,200,000,000 12,000
10,000,000 100
30,000,000 300
40,000,000 400
3,247,992 32
66,300,000 663
670,452,008 6,705
780,000,000 7,800




25 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(B)

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 9 October
2002, with an authorised capital of HKS100,000 divided into
10,000,000 shares of HKS0.01 each.

On 7 November 2002, 10,000,000 shares were issued and

allotted to Upflow Holdings Limited as nil paid (note (d) below).

By a written resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company on 31 December 2002, the authorised ordinary share
capital of the Company was increased from HKS100,000 to
HKS$ 12,000,000 by the creation of 1,190,000,000 shares of
HKS0.01 each.

On 31 December 2002, the shareholders of GDC (BVI) Limited
(now the shareholders of the Company) transferred the entire
share capital of GDC (BVI) Limited, an intermediate holding
company of the companies comprising the Group, to the
Company in consideration of and exchange for which the
Company (i) allotted and issued, credited as fully paid,
30,000,000 new shares of HKS0.01 each; and (ii) credited as
fully paid at par the 10,000,000 nil paid shares of HKS0.01

each held by Upflow Holdings Limited.

On 25 and 26 June 2003, the Company allotted and issued
945,311 and 2,302,681 shares of the Company of HKS0.01
each to two pre-listing investors at cash considerations of
HKS 11,700,000 and HK$28,500,000 respectively. The excess
of the aggregated cash consideration over the nominal value
of shares of HK$40, 168,000 was credited to the share premium

account of the Company (note 26).
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25 BB (1)
B aE

(a) ARRRZZETE_F+ANAEBERE
AL - SEERRA A 100,000 BT
5 /10,000,000 FREEO0.01ETTZ

Bin e

(b) MZZTZTZF+—AtB  LURHRK
7 R M Upflow Holdings Limited 1T &
fic 2 10,000,0008 A& 3 (T~ 3¢ Bt &F
(d)) e

(c) ARRABRENR-_ZTZE_F+-_A=+—
MRZEEARR  ARAEAEL AR
m&mmv 190,000,0008% & i & &
0.0 Lz, + B 1000008 T E
12,000,000% 7T °

(d RZTEZEZF+ZA=+—H " GDC
(BVI)Limited (B AT B A B ZIRE) 2 &
B # GDC(BVI|Limited (4 Bk 2~ & B 2 A
ZHNERAA) 2 2BRAEZE TA
RA ERRERRBEHS - ARF ()
fic 8% & 317 30,000,000 F R EE0.01
BT 2 NRY BB RFFR « R (i)
Upflow Holdings Limited ;A 7 % B 3 5
XA 210,000,000 FREEC.017
TR IREE AR AR R

(e] RZEE=FSAZ+THABE=T+AX
B ARRINUNER00IBT @ BB RE
79453118 % 2,302,681 A A A B 15
TR EWARES  REREDAR
11,700,000/ 7T & 28,500,000/ JT °
R REBARNDEEAS0,168,000%8
T WEFARRAKRNHESERA
(H3E 26) ©
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25 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

128

()

(gl

On | August 2003, the Company allotted and issued
66,300,000 shares of the Company of HKS0.01 each to investors
through the placing and public offer at HKS1.00 per share, for
cash consideration of HKS66,300,000. The excess of the
aggregate cash consideration over the nominal value of shares
of HKS65,637,000 was credited to the share premium account

of the Company (note 26).

On the same date, 670,452,008 shares were allotted as fully
paid at par to the shareholders whose names appeared on the
register of members of the Company in proportion to their
respective shareholdings at the close of business on 1 August
2003 by way of capitalisation of the sum of approximately
HKS6,705,000 standing to the credit of the share premium

account of the Company (note 26).

At a Special General Meeting of the Company held on 18 July
2003, a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved

and adopted.

Under the terms of the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion,
offer any full-time employees, Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) and part-time employees with weekly
working hours of 10 hours and above, of the Group or other
relevant business partners of the Group (collectively the
“Participant”), options to subscribe for the Company’s share at
the subscription price of the higher of (i) the closing price of
the Company'’s shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must
be a business day; [(ii] the average closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets by the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
share on the date of grant. A nominal consideration at HKS |
each shall be paid by the grantees for the acceptance of the

grant of share options.

25 BB (1)

(f]
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7T Bo B K F 1T 66,300,000 A 1 A &
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B EAKRR AR MG EERA (M3
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25 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The maximum number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30%
of the Company’s shares in issue from time to time (the “Scheme
Limit”). Taking into account the Companys share in issue
immediately after the completion of the new issue and the
capitalisation issue but before the exercise of the Sotas Option,
the Scheme Limit is 78,000,000 shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total issued share capital of the

Company on adoption of the Scheme.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and
notified by the Board to each grantee and in any event such
period of time shall not more than ten years commencing on

the date on which it was adopted.

No share option was granted under the Scheme during the

year.
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26 RESERVES

130

Group

At T January 2002

Share issuance costs

Loss for the year

Transfer to statutory feserve

Exchange difference

At 31 December 2002

At 1 January 2003

Issue of shates to pre-fisting
investors (note Z5(e|)

Issue of shares by placing and
public offer (note 25(f])

(apitalisation issue (note 25(f))

Share issuance Costs

Transfer to share
premium account

Loss for the year

Transfer to statutory feserve

At 31 December 2003

RZZ2-5-H-H
BIRH 2 KA
FERE
ERTATRE
EAZH

t-A=t-H

R-ZE=E-f-H
RETHREEEN
Rth (Wit2s(e))

BRERAREE
R (Wit2s)

i#

ERER
EREATHA

26 f#f
rEHE
Share
Contributed issuance Statutory
surplus Share costs reserve Exchange  Accumulated
(note &) premium {note b} (note ¢ reserve losses Total
¥Rtz

CON:4: B AR
(Wit a) RiaE (Bt o) (Wit o Bt 2iTER aif
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
40,271 = = = 5 (13,398) 26,878
= = (4,465 ) = = = (4,465 )
= = = = = (17,429) (17,429)
= = = 415 = (415) =
= = = = 3 = 3
40,271 = (4,465 ) 415 48 (31,242] 5,027
40,271 = (4,465 ) 415 48 (31,242] 5,027
= 40,168 = = = = 40,168
= 65,637 = = = = 65,637
= (6,705 = = = = (6,705
= = (10,336) = = = (10,336)
= (14,801 14,801 = = = =
= = = = = (33,149) (33,149)
= = = 123 = (123) =
40,271 84,299 = 538 18 (64,514] 60,642
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26 RESERVES (Continued) 26 f#f ()
Company YN
Share
Contributed issuance
surplus Share costs  Accumulated
[note dj premium (note b loss Total
HARR Bk
(Bita) RGaE€  mE(HED) 2itE#R &t
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
At | January 2002 WZEE-F-f—-8 - - - - -
Effect of the Reorganisation B E 9,492 - - - 9,492
Share issuance costs RORMDZRA - - (4,465 - (4,465]
R-ZE_F
At 31 December 2002 +=ZA=1-H 9,492 - (4,465) - 5,027
At 1 January 2003 RZZ£Z=4-A—H 9,492 - (4,465 - 5,027
Issue of shares to RMETRRES
predisting investors BORA - 40,168 - - 40,168
Issue of shares by placing BREERAREE
and public offer 21k - 65,637 - - 65,637
Capitalisation issue BERES - (6,705 - - (6,705]
Share issuance costs BORMDZRA - - (10,336) - (10,336)
Transfer to share B EY )
premium account & B - (14,801 14,801 - -
Loss for the year EEBR - - - (4,384] (4,384]
R-ZZE=F
At 31 December 2003 +=ZA=1-H 9,492 84,299 - (4,384] 89,407
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26 RESERVES (Continued)

132

(a)

On 27 and 28 November 2002, Global Digital Creations
Limited transferred its entire shareholdings in and
receivables of HKS$74,916,000 from GDC Technology
Limited, GDC Entertainment Limited and GDC China
Limited to GDC Holdings Limited in consideration of
and exchange for which GDC Holdings Limited (i)
allotted and issued 521,418,075 ordinary shares of
USS0.01 each to Global Digital Creations Limited; and
(i) assumed certain loans and a convertible note owed
by Global Digital Creations Limited totalling approximately
HKS$34,272,000 by way of novation.

On 28 November 2002, Global Digital Creations Limited
transferred its entire shareholding in GDC Holdings
Limited to GDC (BVI) Limited in consideration of and
exchange for GDC (BVI) Limited's allotment and issuance
of 521,418,075 ordinary shares of USS$0.01 each to
Global Digital Creations Limited. On the same date,
Global Digital Creations Limited distributed its entire
equity interests in GDC (BVI) Limited to its shareholders

by way of distribution in specie on a pro-rata basis.

On 31 December 2002, the shareholders of GDC (BVI)
Limited transferred the entire share capital of GDC (BVI)
Limited to the Company in consideration of and
exchange for the Company’s allotment and issuance of
40,000,000 ordinary shares of HKS0.01 each to the

shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

26 fw#tE (&)

(a)

R-BE_F+—-A-tEtHEZ
+ AR
Limited#& & M GDC Technology
Limited + GDC Entertainment
Limited R RIRBBAI BT HER A
Az a2k ERREREIR
74,916,000 7T # & T GDC
Holdings Limited » {E R KB kXX #
&1 © GDC Holdings Limited (i)
Global Digital Creations Limited i
B REIT521,418,075RBREE
0.01 XLz EBI : R(iABEBE
#1 75 & ¥& Global Digital Creations
Limited’R B #8 %849 34,272,000% T
ZETERRE -—RABKREIRE -

' Global Digital Creations

R_ZFE_F+-A=-tN\H "
Global Digital Creations Limited#
H A GDC Holdings Limited Z 2 |
B HE®EE T GDC(BVI) Limited » 1F
SRERIBGEME - GDC(BVI)
Limited® Global Digital Creations
Limitedfic % K #17521,418,075/%
BREME0OIRTZERER - KA
H - Global Digital
Limited®R (e Gl A B ) 73 & 75 30 B
R GDC(BVI) Limited Z & #F i% # 5
KT HAR o

Creations

R-ZBEZE_F+_A=+—8
GDC (BVI) Limited Z % B # GDC
(BVI) LimitedZ 2 2R A& Z ¥ &
DA ERRERRBEE - KD
AL A MR R ®E KT
40,000,000k FIREEO0.01 BT Z
TR -



26 RESERVES (Continued)

The difference between the nominal value of the shares
of GDC (BVI) Limited and the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued in exchange therefor pursuant
to the Reorganisation is accounted for as contributed

surplus of the Group.

The share issuance costs were written off against the
share premium account upon the listing of the Company’s
shares on GEM.

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in China
mainland, foreign investment enterprises are required to
appropriate part of their after-tax profit (after offsetting
prior years’ losses) to certain statutory reserves. [IDMT
Shenzhen and IDMT Shanghai, as wholly foreign owned
enterprises established in the PRC, are required to
appropriate 10% of their aftertax profit (after offsetting
prior years’ losses) to a general reserve fund until the
balance of the fund reaches 50% of their share capital
thereafter any further appropriation is optional and is
determinable by the companies’ board of directors. The
statutory reserve as at 31 December 2003 represents
general reserve fund of IDMT Shenzhen of approximately
HKS$538,000 (2002: HKS415,000) which can only be
used, upon approval by the relevant authority, to offset

prior years’ losses or to increase capital.

Contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal value of the ordinary
shares issued by the Company and the consolidated net
asset value of subsidiaries acquired through an exchange

of shares pursuant to the Reorganisation.

Financial Statements 81 7§ & & E]%ﬂs

6 fiéte ()

(c)

GDC (BVI) Limitedf& {2 < T & £ A
RAIMBEABITRERBR ZRMD
LHEBZEZENEAAEBER
BHARE -

BT 2 ARG M EE R 2 A
BORBIER EMRESZ KM
B -

BB B KEZEG RBH - HNE
EABKREID RBE RN (£
BHEBEFE 2 BEE)BAET
EEREAR - EREPBEESLZIN
BEECERREBEB MR OR
) RIRFEAGEERZ (LF) A
RRERBEAEN (EREEBEF
BZEERB) ZI109BA—REEE
SN BEERESZHBEEIER
RZ50%A1E - Hig#ET 2 Em#E
—SRNAATBEARREEEET
BERRE RZZEZE=F+=H
St BZEAERBEEEEEHN
ERMERATATRANEHEBEFE
EiE s A LA INE R 2 IR IR BAS 4
BRI ORI £9538,0008 L (=5
T 415000870) —REEEE

N7 °

ARBZEABRBIEARA LD #ELT
TERCEHEREARRREEHE
BREER DT AEANB QR Z4&
REEFERZER -
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27 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH 7 B

FLOW STATEMENT

134

BEanERME

Reconciliation of operating loss to cash used in (a)

operations

Operating loss
Depreciation

Interest income

Net (gain)/loss on disposal

of fixed assets

Operating loss before working
capital changes
Increase in inventories
Increase in production work in progress
Increase in trade receivables
Increase in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
(Decrease)/increase in advances
from a director
(Decrease)/increase in advances
from an officer
(Decrease)/increase in advances
from a shareholder
Increase in amount due from
a related company
Increase in training fees received
in advance
Increase in trade payables
Increase in other payables and

accrued charges

Cash used in operations

REER

nE

B A
HEREEEZ (KeE) /
ERFE

i
]
/m

B2z

REER

FEEm

fEBLTE B 3

FE W B 5 Bk 5K N

ERRIE - REREAM
JFE 152 B T 3 AN

RKE—BRESFEHN
R 4) /8

KRB — % A B B AR
R 4>) /4

B —BRERBK
R 4) /4

FEW — BRE R A
FRIE

T8 U85 B 2 AR 3

B E 5 AR5 AN
H b & HRIR &
JE AT & MM

LEMARE

KREFEEHEERMARS YRR
2003 2002
—EE=F —EE-F
HK$°000 HKS$'000
FTET FHT
(28,045) (15,633
4,013 2,701
(156) (22)
(658)
(24,8406) (12,953
(3,564) =
(25,837) (21,534)
(2,759) (69
(4,598) (964)
(182) 290
(3,300) 3,300
(12) 12
(19) -
1,133 311
2,566 =
11,328 1,223
(50,090 (30,384
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Financial Statements

27 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH 7 ZEBREREXRMTE (E)

FLOW STATEMENT (Continued)

(b) REFEAZHEZH T

(b) Analysis of changes in financing during the

year
Amounts

Share capital ~ due (from|/ Obligations

including  to a related Convertible Other  Loans from under
premium  company  Bank loan note loans ~ shareholders  finance leases

(W) /

BEEE RH-BE R T4k RERE  HERE

ZRE DEFAE L 5 EHER ZEH A

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

TAL THL TATL THL TATL TAL TATL

AL 1 January 2002 N-5F-%-f-8 400 10928 - - - - 249
Share issuance costs ERHZRA (4,465 - - - - - -
Increase in amount due to a related company JEFf ~BRAFFEEN - 23414 - - - - -
New loans Lnder finance Ieases RERERENEZER - - - - - - 13960
Payment of finance lease obligations ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬂﬁ - - - - - - (3,565
Drawdown of long-term bank loan RRREHTES - - 14143 - - - -
Novation of convertibe note and loans WK ZBRER Zf BEH - - 7,800 8,500 17972 -
Increase in loans from shareholders RERRZEREM - - - - - 1674 -
At 31 December 2002 RZZEZETZA=T-8 (4065 70 14143 7,800 8500 19,646 12870
At 1 January 2003 RZF3=%-F-H (4,065 70 14143 7,800 8500 19,646 12870
lisue of shares to pre-lsting investors RETAREZE RS 40,200 - - - - - -
lssue of shares by placing and public offer ~ EBRERAREE RS 66,300 - - - - - -
Share issuance costs ERHZRA (10336 - - - - - -
Decrease in amount due to a related company B Y -~ BEA ARER S - (9 - - - - -
New loans Lnder finance leases RERERENEZER - - - - - - 1218
Inception of finance leases JUMERE - - - - - - 7,188
Payment of finance lease obligations EEGEES PATE - - - - - - (1775)
Drawdown of long-term bank loan RRRERTER - - 14143 - - - -
Redemption of convertible note BHIARZR - - - (7,800) - - -
Drawdown of other loans RRABER - - - - 2,000 - -
Payment of other loans A B - - - - (10500 - -
Increase in loans from shareholders REREEFEM - - - - - 1,025 -
Payment of loans from sharenolders REEHH - - - - - (9,135 -
At 31 December 2003 WZF3=TZF=1-H 92,099 (19) 28286 - - 11536 13,501
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27 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH
FLOW STATEMENT (Continued)

(c) Major non-cash transactions

136

During the year, the Group entered into finance lease
arrangements in respect of fixed assets with a total capital

value at the inception of the lease of approximately
HKS7,188,000 (2002: HKSNIl).

On 27 and 28 November 2002, an amount of
HKS74,916,000 due to Global Digital Creations Limited
was applied to offset against the novation of Convertible
Note and loans from shareholders and other loans to
GDC Holdings Limited and the remaining balance of
HKS40,644,000 was capitalised pursuant to the
Reorganisation which was deemed to be effected prior

to 1 January 2002.

In addition, share issuance costs of HKS$3,232,000
payable as at 31 December 2002 was accounted for as

a deduction from equity.

7 RERTREBRHE (A
(c) ZEHFRERS

REAEER AEERNEERS
B2 48 ANEH) 7,188,000 T (=
ZE_F - EBTICEEEEF]
UBMERERH -

RZZEZE_F+—AZ++tAKZ
+ /\B ' FEf Global Digital
Creatins Limtied KI874,916,0007%
7T AMNAEEE T GDC Holdings
LimitedZz AJ R EHE - BREE T
GDC Holdings LimitedZ B &
GDC Holdings Limited 2 & ft &
B MEREE 40,644,000 T A IR 1%
EH (ZBEABRBEER _ZZ
ZHE—H—HBA#ET)EEREL -

o BEZZEZE_F+_A=+
— B ENBEITRMZEKAR
3,232,000 T ThE R IR EEH 1N
BrZ BFEARR o
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28 COMMITMENTS 28 HEIE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEREE
At 31 December 2003, the Group had the following RZZEZE=F+ZH=+—H " ' K
capital commitments relating to leasehold improvements: SEREHEEEMEREmMHES 2
BAREEMNT
2003 2002
—ERE=F —TT_fF
HK$'000 HKS'000
FER FET
Authorised but not contracted for EREERETD - =
Contracted but not provided for EEENER L - 247
- 247
At 31 December 2003, the Company did not have any RZEZE=F+-_A=+—8H &RQF
significant capital commitment (2002: Nil). TEEMERNERAE(ZZT _F -
&) -
(b) Operating lease commitments/arrangements (b) EEHERE T8

(il Lessee — where the Group is the lessee (i) AEBEA—FEEHZAEA
The Group had total future minimum lease REERBEISATHE 2 & &M
payments in respect of land and buildings under ERLTHEEFRAR Z&KE

non-cancellable operating leases as follows: HENHAERENT -

2003 2002
—ERE=F —TT_F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FER FET
Within one year —FR 6,421 3,000
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_EFHF (BEEEMSF) 15,674 3,913
22,095 6,913
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28 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

138

(b) Operating lease commitments/arrangements

(Continued)

(i

(i)

Lessor — where the Group Is the lessor

The Group had total future minimum lease receipts

in respect of computer equipment under non-

cancellable operating lease as follows:

—&R

Within one year

In respect of digital film encoders and servers held
in use for operating lease, the lease agreement
does not contain a fixed lease term, accordingly,
the total minimum lease receipts have not been

disclosed in the above.

At 31 December 2003, the Company did not have
any significant operating leases commitments (2002:

Nil].

28 EIE (&)

(b) BREMERE ZH (&)

(i) HBEA-FXEEZLHAEA
AEBERBTATHEZLZEM

ERERRERAKZSER

BlammeEmT
2003 2002
—ET=F —TT-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAET
260 -

WEEHEMARAECHREE
-2 RS A ]
5 EHEREALEKE
EHEH AHEHSKEE
BUEEEXTUARKE -

(i) RZEZE=F+ZH=+—
B ARGV EERNENLEE
HEAE(ZZZE_F : &) o
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 BERAEANERS
Significant related party transactions, which were carried out AEBELERBHEERNETZERE
in the normal course of the Groups business are as follows: BAEATRXZET :
2003 2002
—EE=H —EE_F
Note HK$°000 HKS'000
Wt &t TERT TET
Rental expense paid to H—EEEEM
Ms. Lau Fung Sim, the spouse REHFTEZ
of Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, i 48 2 Bl 18 2 +
in respect of a Director quarter TfRzHEeRAE (a) 336 224
Rental expense paid to H—EIFEM
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh RERBEE
in respect of TRz E®
a staff quarter 53 (b) 96 96
Rental expense paid to H—PREENM
Solutions Lab Pte Ltd Solutions Lab Pte Ltd
in respect of an TRzE®
office premise 53 () 181 17
Legal and professional fees X 1 F O'Melveny and
paid to O’'Melveny and Myers LLPZ & K
Myers LLP BEXEH (d) 780 328
Notes: Kt it
(a) On 26 April 2002, GDC China Limited, a subsidiary of the (a) RZZEZ-_FMAZ+/H  BRYS
Company, entered into a lease agreement with Ms. Lau Fung BIEFREAERAR (KRRAIMEAE) &
Sim, the spouse of Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh, for the lease of REMAEEZEBEBELTHEER
residential premise as a Director quarter. The Group paid a EENIERESFTES —FFILMEE
monthly rental of HK$28,000 to Ms. Lau Fung Sim for a period ZoAKEBE-_ZTE_FHAALHEMN
of two years commencing from 7 May 2002. FHE - 5AMEIEE R+ X 128,000
BILEE
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

140

(B)

The Group leased a staff quarter from Mr. Anthony Francis
Neoh for a term of one year commencing from 15 October
2001 at a monthly rental of HK$8,000. The lease agreement
was renewed on 2 October 2002 and 15 February 2004 with

similar terms and the lease was extended to 15 October 2004.

On 12 August 2002, the Group entered into a sub-tenancy
agreement with Solutions Lab Pte Ltd, a related company of
Cyber Prime Developments Limited, a shareholder of the
Company, for the sublease of an office premise in Singapore.
The Group paid a monthly rental of S$1,000 for a period of
one year commencing from [ September 2002. On 12 May
2003, the Group entered into a supplemental sub-tenancy
agreement with Solutions Lab Pte Ltd for the sublease of a
larger portion of the office premise in Singapore at a monthly
rental of $$4,800 commencing from 15 May 2003 to 31
December 2003.

During the year, the Group paid approximately HKS780,000
(2002: HKS$328,000), for legal and professional services
rendered by O'Melveny and Myers LLP, a law firm in the United
States of America. Mr. Stephen Scharf, an independent non-
executive Director of the Company, is one of the partners of

O’'Melveny and Myers LLP

29 EBEA T

(b)

X% (#8)
AEER-FE-FTATHARAR
ERAXEMEETIES  BE—F A

78,0008 7T - FHEBEHZELCD 2 Al

R-2E-F+A-AR-FEMF=
AtERREUKRERE_2ENF
+A+5HA -

R-2E-F\A+=0 ALER

Solutions Lab Pte Ltd. (& 2 &) R3E
Cyber Prime Developments Limited,Z B8
ERE) MBI - REE MR
Y-—EpEHE  AEER -T2 -F
NA—BEF-—FRAEAXNES
1LOOOK T - R—ZFE=FAH+=
H + A% B 8 Solutions Lab Pte Ltd &]
V-EfxsMGE c B-FF=FFH
ATHABE-ZZE=F+=-A=+—H
HARE A A 78 4,800 7T 9 78 3% B 37 AN 3K
MAEMEZERNNDE -

REFEEAR  REBEHR - ZBEEMEH
FTO'Melveny and Myers LLP3R 2 & 72
RFEERB M X4 780,0008 T (=%
T4 1 328,000/ 7L) ° AR FIBIUIFE
# /T & £ Stephen Scharfft £ T3
O'Melveny and Myers LLPZ B/ — &
BA o



29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(e

On 15 January 2000, GDC Entertainment Limited, a subsidiary
of the Company, entered into an assignment with Moebius
Strip Limited (formerly known as Butterfly Dance Holdings
Limited), in which Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh is one of the
shareholders, for the assignment of the copyright and all other
rights in and to the Film. Pursuant to the assignment (which
was supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 2 May
2003), the assignment consideration consists of (i) US$60,000;
(ii) deferred net profit from the Group’ film production of Thru
the Moebius Strip up to a maximum of US$240,000 should the
Group’s film production generates a net profit as defined in the
assignment; and (iii) 3% of the net profit from the Group’s
production of Thru the Moebius Strip in excess of US$240,000
from time to time. As at 31 December 2003, the intellectual
property rights as referred to in (i) above of approximately
HKS467,000 (equivalent to USS$60,000) was paid and is
included in production work in progress. The equity interest
held by Mr. Raymond Dennis Neoh was sold to a third party
during the year ended 31 December 2003.

30 APPROVAL OF ACCOUNTS

The accounts were approved by the board of directors on 19

March 2004.

: : B E:
Financial Statements Bf # 3§ & s

TIE

29 BREALTRS (&)

.

fe) R_ZFEZTZEHE—-HF+AH " GDC
Entertainment Limited (AR & 2 It B &
7)) B Moebius Strip Limited (AT 78
Butterfly Dance Holdings Limited *
T M 5 & Th Moebius Strip Limited & &
—RR)SREEEZ RERA AR
ENMTL —EEEE - REZEE
E(EBER—HR-_ZZ=FHA_H
RN EBBEMAEZ)  HERE
FLHE (i)60,0003 7T (i) AN £ B B 57 &
EEEMAN (EERZEEE)  AIXE
®EEAET Thru the Moebius Strip) Z
BT A R B % 5 240,000% 70 ¢ R (i) A
S @ EBUET Thru the Moebius Strip) 7~ B
H38240,000 X TLAMZ23% - R=FF
=F+ZA=+—B  AEEEHR EX
(i) BT a2 F0 3 = R 2 1 49 467,0007%8 7T
(FE R 60,000 TT) - ZEEBGE A
EHEBEAN REBEE-ZTT=F+-A
E+—BIEFE - REELEMFRE
BEETE=H -

30 BRE #EHt
EFEefRN _ZTMF=A+ L BFH
ZERAB °
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY % E

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS =a
Year ended 31 December BE+-_A=1+—"HBLEE
2003 2002 2001
—EE=E S 2T —F
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
TER FET FET
Turnover B 11,478 2,306 2,240
Cost of sales 5B R (8,428) (3,228) (3,069)
Gross profit/(l0ss) ER(E8) 3,050 (922) (829)
Other revenue A 156 22 12
Other operating income H At 42 A 658 - -
Administrative expenses THRAX (27,648 (11,644) (7,657)
Other operating expenses, net H A8 & 5 X F 58 (4,261) (3,089) (1,761)
Operating loss KEERE (28,045) (15,633) (10,235)
Finance costs Bl & kA (5,255) [1,796) (82)
Loss before taxation B B A &S 18 (33,300) (17,429) [10.317)
Taxation fH1E 151 = =
Loss for the year FEBRE (33,149) (17,429) (10,317)
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES neEERERE
As at 31 December R+-=—A=+—H
2003 2002 2001
—EE=F —EE-F —EE—F
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
TER FET FET
Total assets wEE 146,003 81,929 45,029
Total liabilities waeE 77,561 76,502 17,751
Net assets BEFR 68,442 5,427 27,278
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Corporate Governance Statement 1t 3% & 8 & B

HOLDINGS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT TtEERBEH

This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices
of the Group that were in place during the period after the listing

of Shares in August 2003.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors comprises eight directors, namely Mr.
Anthony Francis Neoh (Chairman), Mr. David Deng Wei; Mr. Gordon
Kwong Che Keung; Professor Japhet Sebastian Law, Mr. Raymond
Dennis Neoh (Chief Executive Officer); Mr. Stephen Scharf; Mr.
Richard Yin (President); and Dato” Mohd Ibrahim bin Mohd Zain.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 3 August 2003 and
comprises not less than three members of the Non-executive
Directors of the Company, the majority of whom is independent. It
acts in an advisory capacity and makes recommendations to the
Board on issues such as, the appointment of external auditors;
scope of the external audit; the review of internal control systems;
and the review of financial statements on their completeness and

accuracy before submission to the Board.

During the period to 31 December 2003, two meetings of the
Audit Committee were held, with the presence of the external
auditors. The members of the Audit Committee are: Mr. Gordon
Kwong Che Keung (Chairman), Professor Japhet Sebastian Law,
and Mr. Stephen Scharf, all of whom are Independent Non-

executive Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 3 August 2003
and comprises two members. It acts in an advisory capacity on
issues such as remuneration of senior executives and bonus and

incentives payment.

ZEARLAREERNE—_FT=F/\A
EHRZBEAALERAT ERERENR
el o

EEg

ExgpREN\2EE  AREREE (£
) HEEL  BERESE  BXERE
RE R £ (FTHAEH) ¢ Stephen Scharfft
B RS & (&) - KDato’ Mohd
Ibrahim bin Mohd Zain °

BEREES
%ﬁé%@%:%%ziﬂﬂzﬁﬁzvﬁ
LOEARASMFRTEERE - £ K

187 72%?%13!5%% TEF - ERZBEUEM
250 YRR EINRZERE - S RAZEE
ZEZEE BEHAPEEHNE  RERE
FEREEHYBRAMELECBUELRE
BUSEENEFSRMHES -

REZE-_ZZ=F+-A=+—HzHH
N BERZEGCERTMAEE  MINKREZ
BT ELR BFERZEGIKERE : B
TREE(EFE) - B XHE K KStephen
Scharffe & REZBARBIIFEHNITES °

s T-_F/\A=ZHKIL ' B
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁhw%%é% DERZ &1 - 5t
ZHE R XNz B REE
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During the period to 31 December 2003, four meetings of the

Remuneration Committee were held. The members of the
Remuneration Committee are Professor Japhet Sebastian Law

(Chairman), and Dr. David Deng Wei.

DISCLOSURE POLICY COMMITTEE

The Disclosure Policy Committee was established on 7 November
2003 and comprises Non-executive Directors of the Company. The
objective of the Disclosure Policy Committee is to ensure that
communications to the investing public about the Company are
timely, factual, complete and accurate; and broadly disseminated
in accordance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
To meeting this objective, it lays down benchmarks for a preliminary
assessment of materiality and will determine when developments

Jjustify public disclosure.

During the period to 31 December 2003, no meeting of the
Disclosure Policy Committee was held as it was only recently
established. The members of the Disclosure Policy Committee are
Mr. Anthony Francis Neoh (Chairman), Dr. David Deng Wei, Mr.
Gordon Kwong Che Keung, Professor Japhet Sebastian Law, and

Mr. Stephen Scharf.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting BRERBF AR S

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

REREFASES

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual general meeting

(the

"‘AGM") of the members of Global Digital Creations Holdings

Limited (the “Company”] will be held at Block B, Yuehaimen Square,

2292-2300 Nanyou Avenue, Shenzhen, the Peoples Republic of

China (please see Note below regarding transport arrangement

provided by the Company) on 20 April 2004 at 11:00 a.m. for the

following purposes:

Note:

To receive and consider the audited consolidated financial
statements and the reports of the directors and auditors for

the year ended 31 December 2003,

To re-elect Directors and to authorise the board of directors

(“Board”) to fix the Directors’ remuneration;

To re-appoint auditors and authorise the Board to fix their

remuneration;

As special business to consider and, if thought fit, pass the
following resolutions with or without modifications, as

Ordinary Resolutions and Special Resolution:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

(1) “THAT

(a) subject to paragraph (b) of this Resolution, the
exercise by the Directors during the Relevant Period
(as hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the

Company to purchase ordinary shares in the capital

Shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) are cordially invited
to travel to the venue for the AGM in Shenzhen and back to Hong
Kong on coach services provided free-of-charge by the Company.
Shareholders will have the opportunity to view the latest progress
made on the movie Thru the Moebius Strip after the AGM.
Interested Shareholders may contact Ms. Carman Ng of the
Company at +852 3102 2226 during normal office hours or at
carman.ng@gdc-tech.com before 4:00 p.m. on 19 April 2004 for

reservation and further details.
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of the Company on the Growth Enterprise Market
(the “GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Exchange”’) or on any other stock
exchange on which the securities of the Company
may be listed and recognized by The Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“Securities and
Futures Commission”) and the Exchange for this
purpose, subject to and in accordance with all
applicable laws and the requirements of the
Securities and Futures Commission and the
Exchange or any other stock exchange as amended
from time to time and all applicable laws in this
regard, be and is hereby generally and

unconditionally approved,

the total nominal amount of shares of the Company
to be purchased pursuant to the approval in
paragraph (a) above during the Relevant Period
shall not exceed 10 per cent. of the total nominal
amount of the share capital of the Company in
issue on the date of this Resolution and the said

approval shall be limited accordingly, and

for the purpose of this Resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the passing of this Resolution

until whichever is the earlier of:

(i)~ the conclusion of the next annual general

meeting of the Company;

(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this Resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general

meetings, or

(i) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the Bye-laws of the Company

or any applicable laws of Bermuda to be
held.”;

naE (B ) sl AR (T81%
1) AR RRE A REE L
MEkBAEEFLRPEEHER
ZEe([EES ) KB
WRA 2 E R EMREHFR 5 M
BERAZARBBRATER
B EBARBRZRBAAE
PR EE S R RAHAE
MEMBEFR A IRER 2
RERFLUT S FTAERED
MRIE

RN AR £ X (a8 2 #AER
EHAHHEBELRQ 2 ROBEET
BRBARAIRAREZRAH
ZEETRANBEMBEIOY M
FRBETBUEAR : &

RARBRME - [AEHE
ERXARBREABZAER
TH&RFZHBIEZEHE :

(il ARRTEBREBFRS
R

(i) BRERERFEAG EAER
RE RPN BRI AR E
RFfEEECH %

(i) WEARABDZMAIHE R
A E A A G AR R A
BOTERFRBEFAREZ
HEE® -]



(2]

“THAT

(a)

subject to the following provisions of this Resolution
and pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Exchange, the exercise
by the Directors during the Relevant Period (as
hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the
Company to allot, issue and deal with additional
shares in the share capital of the Company and to
make or grant offers, agreements and options
which would or might require the exercise of such
powers be and is hereby generally and
unconditionally approved,

the approval in paragraph (a) of this Resolution
shall be in addition to any other authorisation given
to the Directors and shall authorise the Directors
during the Relevant Period to make or grant offers,
agreements and options which would or might
require the exercise of such powers during or after

the end of the Relevant Period;

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital
allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or
otherwise) and issued by the Directors pursuant to
the approval in paragraph (a) of this Resolution,
otherwise than pursuant to (i) a rights issue where
shares are offered to shareholders of the Company
or any class thereof on a fixed record date in
proportion to their then holdings of shares or any
class thereof (subject to such exclusions or other
arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary
or expedient in relation to fractional entitlerments
or having regard to any restrictions or obligations
under the laws of, or the requirements of any
recognized regulatory body or any stock exchange
in any territory outside Hong Kong); or (ii] the
exercise of any options granted under any option

scheme or similar arrangement for the time being
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(3)

adopted by the Company for the grant or issue to
eligible participants thereunder or rights to acquire
shares in the capital of the Company, or (iii) any
scrip dividend or similar arrangement providing for
the allotment of shares in lieu of the whole or part
of a dividend on shares of the Company in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company in
force from time to time, shall not exceed 20 per
cent. of the aggregate nominal amount of the share
capital of the Company in issue as at the date of
the passing of this Resolution and the said approval
shall be limited accordingly; and

(d) for the purpose of this Resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the passing of this Resolution
until whichever is the earlier of:

(i)~ the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this Resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meetings, or

(i) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the Bye-laws of the Company
or any applicable laws of Bermuda to be
held.”;

“THAT conditional upon Resolution 4(2) above being
passed, the general mandate granted to the Directors
to exercise the powers of the Company to allot, issue
and deal with shares and to make or grant offers,
agreements and options which would or might require
the exercise of such powers be and is hereby extended
by the total nominal amount of shares in the capital of
the Company repurchased by the Company since the
granting of a general mandate to the Directors to
exercise the powers of the Company to purchase such
shares, provided that such amount shall not exceed 10
per cent. of the total nominal amount of the share capital

of the Company in issue on the date of this Resolution.”.
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SPECIAL RESOLUTION

(4) “THAT the Bye-laws of the Company be and hereby are

amended as follows:

a. by deleting the existing definition of “clearing
house” in bye-law 1 and inserting the following

new definitions in bye-law 1:

“associate” the meaning attributed to it
in the rules of the Designated

Stock Exchange.

“clearing house” a clearing house recognised
by the laws of the jurisdiction
in which the shares of the
Company are listed or quoted
on a stock exchange in such

jurisdiction.

b. Dby re-numbering the existing bye-law 76 as bye-
law 76(1) and by inserting the following new bye-
law 76(2):

“(2) Where any Member is, under the rules of the
Designated Stock Exchange, required to
abstain from voting on any particular
resolution or restricted to voting only for or
only against any particular resolution, any
votes cast by or on behalf of such Member in
contravention of such requirement or

restriction shall not be counted.”

C. by substituting, in the bye-law 86(4), the words
“special resolution” for the words “ordinary

resolution” appearing on the second line;
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d. by substituting the existing bye-law 88 with the

following new bye-law 88:

“88.

No person other than a Director retiring at
the meeting shall, unless recommended by
the Directors for election, be eligible for
election as a Director at any general meeting
unless a Notice signed by a Member (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified
to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a Notice
signed by the person to be proposed of his
willingness to be elected shall have been
lodged at the head office or at the Registration
Office provided that the minimum length of
the period, during which such Notice(s) are
given, shall be at least seven (7) days and
that the period for lodgment of such Notice(s)
shall commence no earlier than the day after
the dispatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date

of such general meeting.”

e. by substituting the existing bye-law 103 with the

following new bye-law 103:

“103.

150

(T} A Director shall not vote (nor be counted
in the quorum) on any resolution of the
Board approving any contract or
arrangement or any other proposal in
which he or any of his associates is
materially interested, but this prohibition
shall not apply to any of the following

matters namely:

(i) any contract or arrangement for the
giving to such Director or his

associate(s) any security or
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(i)

indemnity in respect of money lent
Py him or any of his associates or
obligations incurred or undertaken
by him or any of his associates at
the request of or for the benefit of
the Company or any of its

subsidiaries;

any contract or arrangement for the
giving of any security or indemnity
to a third party in respect of a debt
or obligation of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries for which the
Director or his associate(s) has
himself/themselves assumed
responsibility in whole or in part
whether alone or jointly under a
guarantee or indemnity or by the

giving of security,

any contract or arrangement
concerning an offer of shares or
debentures or other securities of or
by the Company or any other
company which the Company may
promote or be interested in for
subscription or purchase, where the
Director or his associate(s) is/are or
is/are to be interested as a
participant in the underwriting or

sub-underwriting of the offer;
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any contract or arrangement in
which the Director or his
associate(s) is/are interested in the
same manner as other holders of
shares or debentures or other
securities of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries by virtue only of his/
their interest in shares or debentures

or other securities of the Company;

any contract or arrangement
concerning any other company in
which the Director or his
associate(s) is/are interested only,
whether directly or indirectly, as an
officer or executive or a shareholder
other than a company in which the
Director and/or his associate(s) is/
are beneficially interested in five (5)
per cent or more of the issued
shares or of the voting rights of any
class of shares of such company (or
any third company through which
his interest or that of any of his

associates is derived); or

(iv]
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(2]

(vij any proposal concerning the
adoption, madification or operation
of a share option scheme, a pension
fund or retirement, death or
disability benefits scheme or other
arrangement which relates both to
directors, his associates and
employees of the Company or of
any of its subsidiaries and does not
provide in respect of any Director,
or his associate(s), as such any
privilege or advantage not accorded
to the employees to which such

scheme or fund relates.

A company shall be deemed to be a
company in which a Director and/or his
associate(s) owns five (5) per cent. or
more if and so long as (but only if and
so long as) he and/or his associates,
(either directly or indirectly) are the
holders of or beneficially interested in five
(5) per cent. or more of any class of the
equity share capital of such company or
of the voting rights available to members
of such company (or of any third
company through which his/their interest
or that of any of his associates is derived).
For the purpose of this paragraph there
shall be disregarded any shares held by
a Director or his associate(s) as bare or
custodian trustee and in which he or any
of them has no beneficial interest, any
shares comprised in a trust in which the
interest of the Director or his associate(s)
is/are in reversion or remainder if and so

long as some other person is entitled to
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receive the income thereof, and any
shares comprised in an authorised unit
trust scheme in which the Director is
interested only as a unit holder and any
shares which carry no voting right at
general meetings and very restrictive

dividend and return of capital right.

Where a company in which a Director
and/or his associate(s) holds five (5) per
cent. or more is/are materially interested
in a transaction, then that Director and/
or his associate(s) shall also be deemed

materially interested in such transaction.

If any question shall arise at any meeting
of the Board as to the materiality of the
interest of a Director (other than the
chairman of the meeting) or as to the
entitlement of any Director (other than
such chairman) to vote and such
question is not resolved by his voluntarily
agreeing to abstain from voting, such
question shall be referred to the chairman
of the meeting and his ruling in relation
to such other Director shall be final and
conclusive except in a case where the
nature or extent of the interest of the
Director concerned as known to such
Director has not been fairly disclosed to
the Board. If any question as aforesaid

shall arise in respect of the chairman of
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the meeting such question shall be TR ZEARBBENUNE
decided by a resolution of the Board (for FERBREIARE
which purpose such chairman shall not (M EZERETE
vote thereon) and such resolution shall RURBRERE) K%
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g. by inserting the following new bye-law 104(4):

“(4) Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
shall enter into a transaction involving a
consideration of HKS 1,000,000 or more unless
the same has been approved by a resolution
of Directors or a duly authorised committee

of the Directors.””

By Order of the Board
Amelia Mak Lai Yu

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 26 March 2004

Head office and principal place of business:
Suites 1804-05,

Hutchison House,

10 Harcourt Road,

Central,

Hong Kong

Notes:
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A Shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to
appoint a proxy to attend and on a poll, vote in his stead at the
AGM that the appointment shall specify the number and class of
shares in respect of which such proxy is so appointed. A proxy

need not be a member of the Company.

In order to be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy and the
power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is
signed, or a notarially certified copy of such power of authority,
must be lodged with the Company$ branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Standard Registrars Limited at G/F, Bank of East Asia
Harbour View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the

AGM or any adjournment thereof.

Explanatory statements setting out further information regarding
Resolutions 4 to 6 above will be dispatched to the Shareholders,
together with the Annual Report 2003
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